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Statement of Significance

Acme-McCrary Hosiery Mills possesses the requisite special local industrial and architectural
significance for local historic landmark designation. The plant located adjacent to the downtown
commercial center is Asheboro’s largest and most intact historic industrial complex, comprising six
buildings and a smokestack erected from 1909 through 1962 on 7.32 acres on West Salisbury Street’s
south side north of Sunset Avenue. The entity’s contribution to the local economy began when
seventeen Asheboro businessmen created Acme Hosiery Company in 1907. The concern incorporated
as Acme Hosiery Mills on December 15, 1908, struggled until brothers-in-law and hardware and farm
machinery purveyors D. B. McCrary and T. H. Redding partnered with banker W. J. Armfield Jr. to
assume the company’s ownership in 1909. Their management transformed the cotton sock-knitting
mill into the successful enterprise that it remains today.

To ensure an ample supply of high-quality cotton yarn, McCrary, Redding, and Armfield established
Sapona Cotton Mills on March 20, 1916, and acquired and soon improved the existing Cedar Falls
Manufacturing Company complex to serve that purpose. McCrary and Armfield remained Acme
Hosiery and Sapona Cotton Mills’ chief executives following T. H. Redding’s 1918 death. Around
1927, the entrepreneurs created McCrary Hosiery Mills, a silk and rayon hosiery manufacturing
concern housed in the three-story 1924 addition on the Acme plant’s south end. Acme Hosiery Mills
and McCrary Hosiery Mills continued to expand operations in Asheboro and Cedar Falls, and further
increased capacity in 1938 through the construction of a Ramseur factory that remained a separate
corporate entity until merging with McCrary Hosiery Mills in 1948. Acme and McCrary hosiery mills
consolidated on April 1, 1961, to form Acme-McCrary Corporation.

Acme-McCrary Hosiery Mills is architecturally significant due to its collection of intact early- to mid-
twentieth-century buildings that manifest the evolution of industrial design during the period. The
1909 mill and dye house feature heavy-timber framing in conjunction with load-bearing brick exterior
walls executed in common bond. Corbelled Italianate hoods surmount the segmental-arched window
and door openings on the mill’s facade. These elements, in conjunction with the low-pitched gable
roof, deep eaves with exposed rafter ends, double-thickness wood floors, and large, multi-pane,
double-hung, wood-sash windows, are representative of fire-resistant industrial architecture commonly
employed through the early twentieth century. The 1915, 1917, and 1924 structures manifest the
ongoing use of heavy-timber framing and the addition of long gable-roofed monitors to improve light
and ventilation. The buildings and additions completed between 1928 and 1972 incorporate structural-
steel and reinforced-concrete framing systems frequently used during the mid-twentieth century.

The complex reflects the influence of architect Richard C. Biberstein and his successor firms, who
prepared plans for the company’s Asheboro, Cedar Falls, and Ramseur mill expansions beginning in
1927. McCrary Hosiery Mill No. 2, built in 1937 with a steel and concrete structural system that
includes first-floor concrete mushroom columns and running-bond wire-cut variegated-brick veneer
with cast-stone accents, is particularly noteworthy. In 1948 and 1949 the company embraced current
architectural trends, erecting two streamlined Art Moderne-style buildings—McCrary Hosiery Mill No.
3 designed by the Biberstein firm and the Acme-McCrary-Sapona Recreation Center rendered by
Henderson, North Carolina, architect Eric G. Flannagan—and thus conveying a sense of modernity and
industrial prosperity. The period of significance begins in 1909, with the construction of the first mill
and attached dye house at what is now 159 North Street, and continues to 1964. Although the Acme-
McCrary Corporation continued to use the plant until 2022, its industrial function and physical
expansion after 1964 are not of exceptional significance.
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Site Evolution

Although utilized by two distinct business entities—Acme Hosiery Mills and McCrary Hosiery
Mills—the plant was commonly referred to as Acme-McCrary Hosiery Mills during the period of
significance. The six buildings and smokestack erected from 1909 through 1962 span the railroad and
North and Church streets on 7.32 acres between West Salisbury Street and Sunset Avenue. Acme
Hosiery Mills constructed the two-story heavy-timber frame and brick mill on the railroad’s east side
at what is now 159 North Street in 1909. Acme and McCrary hosiery mills’ subsequent expansions to
the original building include two- and three-story brick, heavy-timber, structural-steel, and reinforced-
concrete-framed dye house, mill, and warehouse additions that extend west toward the railroad and
south to commercial buildings on Sunset Avenue’s north side.

In March 1931, McCrary Hosiery Mills acquired the neighboring two-story, heavy-timber frame, brick
Parks Hosiery Mill west of the railroad on North Church Street’s east side. McCrary Hosiery Mills
expanded into the facility, constructed the connected two-story brick Mill No. 2 to the north in 1937,
and slightly enlarged the mid-1920s mill around 1940. The company’s ongoing growth necessitated
the 1948 completion of a third contiguous knitting mill: the two-story, Art Moderne, steel-framed,
brick building at 347 West Salisbury Street. The two-story brick employee recreation center finished
in December 1949 at 148 North Street also reflects the company’s up-to-date image through its Art
Moderne design. The last substantial expansion of the industrial complex’s footprint was the two-
story, brick, wedge-shaped, 1962 office and warehouse that spans the distance between the 1924
section’s west side and the railroad right-of-way. The building received a third-story addition in 1972.

Acme-McCrary Corporation retains ownership of 2.38-acres encompassing the production, storage,
and office building at 159 North Street and a 0.35-acre parking lot on North Street’s east side. In 2012
and 2013, Acme-McCrary Corporation sold to private entities the 2.58-acre parcel at 347 West
Salisbury Street containing McCrary Hosiery Mill No. 3 and a parking lot as well as the commercial
block that occupies a 0.39-acre parcel at 124 North Street south of the recreation building. In June
2017, the company donated the recreation center and its 1.12-acre lot to the City of Asheboro. In
September 2021, company sold the 0.85-acre parcel at 170 Church Street containing Parks Hosiery
Mill - McCrary Hosiery Mill No. 2 to Church Street Loft Apartments, LLC. Acme-McCrary
Corporation is preparing to convey the building at 159 North Street and associated parking lot to the
City of Asheboro.

The local historic landmark encompasses three pivotal resources within the complex listed in the
National Register of Historic Places individually in 2014 and within the Downtown Asheboro Historic
District in 2021: Acme Hosiery Mills and McCrary Hosiery Mills, Parks Hosiery Mill - McCrary
Hosiery Mill No. 2, and the recreation center. The commercial buildings at 124 North Street and on
Trade Street and McCrary Hosiery Mill No. 3 at 347 West Salisbury Street are not included due to
alterations. The Randolph County Senior Adults Association, Inc. undertook the $3 million renovation
of the latter building to serve as the Harry and Jeanette Weinberg Adult Resource and Education
Center. The exterior scope included the installation of aluminum-frame multi-pane sash and doors,
sidelights, and transoms with tinted glass. The sizable two-story steel-frame brick-veneered flat-roofed
rear addition has a hip-roofed full-width east porch connected by a gabled breezeway to a pedimented
porte cochere, all supported by robust Tuscan columns. The project, designed by Greensboro architect
Major S. Sanders Jr. and Asheboro’s Summey Engineering Associates, PLLC, was executed by
Asheboro contractor S. E. Trogdon and Sons in 2014,
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Resource List

Acme Hosiery Mills and McCrary Hosiery Mills, 159 North Street, 1909, 1915, 1917, 1924, 1928,
1929, 1947, 1953, 1956, 1962, 1972, 1986

Acme-McCrary Hosiery Mills Smokestack, circa 1940

Parks Hosiery Mill - McCrary Hosiery Mill No. 2, 170 North Church Street, mid-1920s, 1937,
circa 1940, late 1950s

Acme-McCrary-Sapona Recreation Center, 148 North Street, 1949, 2019

Acme Hosiery Mills and McCrary Hosiery Mills, 159 North Street, 1909, 1915, 1917, 1924, 1928,
1929, 1947, 1953, 1956, 1962, 1972, 1986

In February 1909, Acme Hosiery Mills began erecting a two-story heavy-timber frame mill with load-
bearing brick walls and an attached one-story dye house of the same construction on the railroad’s east
side at what is now 159 North Street.! Italianate-style corbelled hoods embellish the six-bay-wide east
facade below its stepped parapet and blind transoms surmount the central double-leaf door and the
single-leaf door near the north corner. The 1909 mill is thirteen bays long, while the dye house
comprises seven bays to the west. The company subsequently expanded the building numerous times,
constructing austere two- and three-story brick, heavy-timber, structural-steel, and concrete-framed
mill and warehouse additions that extend west toward the railroad and south to commercial buildings
on Sunset Avenue’s north side. In the earliest sections, low-pitched gable roofs with exposed rafter
ends and deep eaves shelter segmental- and flat-arched window and door openings. Although many
double-hung, wood-frame, multi-pane windows have been covered with vinyl siding, a few are
exposed and protected by storm windows. Some ten-over-ten sash double-hung, wood-frame, sash
with ten-pane transoms are encapsulated within additions. Large steel-frame multi-pane windows
remain in most of the post-1928 edifices, which have flat or only slightly pitched roofs. Most original
exterior wood doors have been replaced with steel doors in compliance with fire-safety regulations.

In 1915 and 1917, the company commissioned construction of two almost identical, contiguous, two-
story additions to the south on North Street. As in the original section, both structures have heavy-
timber frames and load-bearing brick walls executed in five-to-one common bond pierced by large,
double-hung, multi-pane, wood-sash windows in arched surrounds. The 1915 building is
approximately one hundred feet long and sixty feet wide, with a belt course extending across the
eleven-bay east and west walls between the first and second stories. For the fourteen-bay-long 1917
addition, masons dispensed with the belt course in order to accommodate larger windows and achieve
greater ceiling height. The 1917 improvements included the addition of a long gable-roofed monitor
featuring four-foot-tall side walls and operable wood sash windows that runs north-south above the
1909, 1915, and 1917 sections to provide supplementary second-story light. The one-story, hip-roofed,
1909 dye house to the west also manifested this feature.

The April 1922 Sanborn map indicates that Acme Hosiery Mills then encompassed boarding
equipment on the 1909 mill’s first floor and knitting machines on the second, while the North Street
additions contained knitting, looping, hemming, and finishing areas. To the west, extending from the
dye house’s south elevation, three one-story structures served as dye storage, a machine shop, and the
boiler room. By April 1931, Acme Hosiery Mills had erected a second story above the dye house and
a one-story, eleven-bay addition on its west end in order to increase space for knitting operations. A

! “Acme Hosiery Mills Co.,” Courier (Asheboro), February 4, 1909, p. 1.
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roof monitor with three-foot side walls illuminated the one-story wing until 1947, when it received a
second-story expansion.? Masons inserted a row of short window openings between the first and
second stories in order to match the 1909 mill’s height.

In 1924, a three-story, twelve-bay-long, heavy-timber frame addition’s construction on the plant’s
south end greatly increased manufacturing space. Stepped parapets disguise the low-pitched gable
roof, which includes exposed rafter ends and deep eaves. Segmental-arched window and door
openings pierce the load-bearing brick walls. McCrary Hosiery Mills, established around 1927,
occupied the addition, employing the second floor for silk stocking knitting and the first floor for
finishing. Acme Hosiery Mills continued to utilize the earlier complex to the north in the same manner
as it had previously. A 1928 rendering and the April 1931 Sanborn map illustrate two modest-sized
two-story additions on the 1915 and 1917 wings’ west elevation that functioned as storage, packing,
and knitting rooms.

The plant’s southern expansion continued in 1928 with the completion of an addition designed for
McCrary Hosiery Mills by Charlotte architect Richard C. Biberstein to house full-fashioned hosiery
machines. A three-story, single-bay, brick hyphen containing a recessed double-leaf steel door
surmounted by a tempered-glass transom and a steel-frame multi-pane window on each of the upper
two floors connects the 1924 and 1928 sections. The eleven-bay-long addition is almost the same
height as the 1924 structure but only two stories. The 1928 knitting mill manifests an important shift
in building technology, as its steel structure allows for wider spans between interior posts, thus
accommodating more equipment. The windows also represent evolving industrial standards, as the
red-brick curtain walls contain tall, steel-frame, multi-pane units with cast-stone sills. Brick pilasters
frame the window bays. Biberstein’s firm specified a similar appearance for the two four- and eight-
bay additions to the south that followed the next year in rapid succession. Each building is two stories
tall with parapets a few feet higher than the 1928 mill. Brick pilasters flank the window bays and
extend several inches above the parapet walls, creating a stepped effect. Masons used red brick to
execute the four-bay section and wire-cut variegated brick to erect the eight-bay section, thus clearly
delineating the phased construction.?

The three-story brick 1953 addition on the 1917 section’s west side included a loading dock adjacent to
the railroad. Another significant 1950s modification was the 1956 Acme-McCrary Hosiery Mills
office renovation planned by Biberstein, Bowles, and Meacham that included the addition of a
streamlined Modernist cast-stone surround at the 1924 building’s North Street entrance. The surround
is intact, although a single-leaf, aluminum-frame, tinted-plate-glass door and sidelight installed in 1986
light the foyer. Most other operational exterior doors are fireproof steel.

Biberstein, Bowles, Meacham, and Reed designed the last substantial expansion of the industrial
complex’s footprint: a two-story, wedge-shaped, brick, 1962 office and warehouse that spans the
distance between the 1924, 1928, and 1953 sections’ west elevations and the railroad right-of-way.
The location dictated the canted configuration of the 1962 building’s west wall. The firm also
prepared plans for the third floor added in 1972. The brick-veneered concrete block edifice features
vertical columns of six-panel steel-frame windows with recessed spandrels and a freight elevator that

2 Acme-McCrary-Sapona, “Service Awards 1948.”

® Richard C. Biberstein plans for eleven-bay addition created in March 1927 and revised in April 1927 and
October 1928. Plans for four-bay addition dated April 1929 and those for eight-bay additions created in June 1929 and
revised in July. All plans in the Acme-McCrary Corporation’s collection.
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also serves the earlier sections. The 1962 building obscures the 1928 section’s northwest end and the
1924 and 1953 sections’ west elevations.

In the late 1950s, the company constructed three steel-frame corrugated-metal-clad overhead walkways
spanning North Church Street, the railroad, and North Street, thus facilitating connectivity between
formerly free-standing sections of the mill complex. The walkway sheathing was replaced in kind in
2011. This improvement made the entire plant accessible from the interior for employee and product
movement and ameliorated safety concerns as well as inconveniences due to inclement weather.

1909 mill and 1910s addition, northwest oblique (above), and 1915 and 1917 additions,
east elevations (below)
All exterior photographs taken by Heather Fearnbach on March 14, 2020 unless otherwise noted
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1924 (top), 1928 (center), and 1929 (bottom) additions, east elevations
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West elevation, 1929 additions at foreground (top), 1928 and 1929 additions (center)
and 1962 addition, northwest oblique (bottom)
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Looking north (top), 1910s addition with 1947 second story south elevation (center) and
northwest oblique (bottom)
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Interior

Much of the Acme-McCrary Hosiery Mills complex served as a finishing plant and warehouse and
thus retains an open plan. Most pre-1929 sections of the substantially intact interior feature wood
floors and exposed brick walls, while later construction and some renovated areas have concrete floors.
Chamfered square wood posts and substantial wood beams comprise the structure in the sections
erected in 1924 and earlier. Engineers specified the installation of steel posts and beams to provide
supplementary support, as replacements, and to build additions beginning in 1928. Steel braces and
girders reinforce some areas to compensate for heavy equipment’s weight and vibration.

1915 addition, second floor beneath roof monitor
All interior photographs of Acme-McCrary Hosiery Mills taken by Heather Fearnbach on March 14, 2020

Beadboard and vertical boards cover stair enclosure and restroom walls in multiple locations
throughout the building’s pre-1930 sections. Doors with horizontal raised panels and glazed upper
sections provide access to the restrooms, which have frame stalls. Beadboard-sheathed walls with
expansive multi-pane fixed-sash interior windows enclose the first-floor dye house office in what is
now a storage room. Some interior doorways are open, but between building sections metal fire doors
slide on steel tracks and are held open by weighted pulleys. In post-1953 areas, fire doors are mounted
above door lintels and roll down. On many outside walls and formerly exterior walls that have been
encapsulated between additions, original double-hung, multi-pane, wood-frame sash windows are
intact. In other interior cases, window sashes between sections have been removed, leaving open
spaces. Contractors have dropped fluorescent lights, sprinkler system pipes, and HVAC ductwork
from the ceilings and installed acoustical-tile ceilings in a few spaces. Carolina Steel of Greensboro
fabricated the steel racks and floor plates installed on the 1929 building’s second floor in 19609.
Climate control and air quality specialists configured air conditioning and washing systems for the
finishing plant and boarding room between 1965 and 1973.*

* Plans in the Acme-McCrary Corporation’s collection.
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1909 mill (top) and 1917 (center) and 1924 (bottom) additions
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Windows of the first story of the 1909 west wing (top) and in 1917 (center left) and
1924 (center right) additions, 1962 addition (bottom)
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1956 second-floor offices (above), vault in 1924 building (below left), walkway over railroad (below right)

Biberstein, Bowles, and Meacham’s design for the 1956 Acme and McCrary Hosiery Mills office
renovation included the installation of wood-paneled partition walls, acoustical-tile ceilings, and air
conditioning on the 1924 building’s second floor. Subsequent modifications created first-floor offices
with dropped ceilings and gypsum-board partition walls in the same building. Acme-McCrary
Corporation converted the southeast corner of the 1917 section’s second-story to office use in 1986,
but the original ceiling remains exposed above gypsum-board partition walls.

The 1924 building retains a brick-walled vault with a steel-reinforced barrel-arched brick ceiling. Cary
Safe Company of Buffalo, New York, manufactured the steel unit that secures the vault’s entrance,
which comprises a double-leaf interior door in addition to the exterior door.

The late 1950s elevated walkways have hardwood floors, gypsum-board-sheathed walls, and
acoustical-tile ceilings.
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Acme-McCrary Hosiery Mills Smokestack, circa 1940

A seventy-foot-tall brick smokestack executed in all-header bond and emblazoned with “Acme-
McCrary” in white letters on its east side rises south of the boiler room. The smokestack’s exact
construction date is unknown, but Sanborn maps indicate that coal fueled the complex’s steam heating
system. Historic photographs and renderings illustrate two tall, narrow smokestacks rising through the
boiler room roof. A circa 1940 rendering of the complex illustrates the single existing smokestack, but
it does not appear on the 1950 Sanborn map.

Parks Hosiery Mill - McCrary Hosiery Mill No. 2, 170 North Church Street, mid-1920s, 1937,
circa 1940, late 1950s, 2022

McCrary Hosiery Mill No. 2 also comprises multiple construction phases. In March 1931, the
company acquired the mid-1920s Parks Hosiery Mill on North Church Street’s east side. The two-
story load-bearing brick structure originally included a one-story eastern dye house lighted by a large
roof monitor. The building’s location just west of the railroad opposite the Acme-McCrary complex
was optimal, as was the fact that the sale included all of the equipment. Parks Hosiery Mill employees
operated 176 knitting machines prior to ceasing production in early 1931.°

Church Street Loft Apartments, LLC’s rehabilitation of this building to create fifty efficiency, one-,
and two-bedroom apartments in compliance with the Secretary of the Interior’s standards should be
finished in December 2022. Photographs of the completed project will be submitted to the Randolph
County Historic Landmark Preservation Commission and the State Historic Preservation Office. The
following description details pre-rehabilitation appearance as well as the renovation scope of work.

Exterior

A stepped parapet tops the-two-story mid-1920s mill’s six-bay west elevation, which originally
contained large multi-pane steel sash on both levels. However, when the elevator shaft with a tower
that extends above the parapet was created at the mill’s southwest corner in the 1950s, window
openings in the west elevation’s south bay and the south elevation’s west bay were filled with brick.
Deep eaves supported by exposed rafter ends shelter the south elevation’s original sixteen bays. All
but two first-story windows were filled with brick and small square louvered vents in conjunction with
HVAC system installation. Walls are laid in five-to-one common bond.

Renderings and Sanborn maps indicate that the company removed the one-story dye house at the mill’s
east end around 1940 and constructed the two-story, two-bay-deep, six-bay-wide addition with five-to-
one common bond walls at that location. The addition’s flat concrete-coping-capped parapet rises a
few feet above the mid-1920s mill’s roof. The circa 1940 addition that extends from the mid-1920s
building’s north elevation is distinguished by six-to-one common bond brick walls punctuated with
brick pilasters with canted concrete caps. A narrow hyphen connects the north addition to the 1937
building. A two-story brick mid-1950s elevator shaft abuts the hyphen’s north wall and the 1937
building’s east wall. The company subsequently built the canted two-story steel-frame structure that
spans the distance between the circa 1940 addition’s north elevation and the elevator tower to serve as

® The April 1931 Sanborn map indicates that Parks Hosiery Mill was not in use at that time. News and Observer,
The North Carolina Yearbook, 1931, p. 78; Randolph County Deed Book 227, p. 630.
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a passage. Corrugated metal siding sheathes the second story. The first story was enclosed with
painted T1-11 siding in the late-twentieth century.

Although Richard C. Biberstein’s firm prepared plans in January 1932 for an addition to be erected on
Parks Hosiery Mill’s north side, McCrary Hosiery Mills did not expand Mill No. 2 until 1937.° The
two-story, five-bay-wide, ten-bay-long, flat-roofed building fills North Church and West Salisbury
Street’s southeast corner. Masons executed the exterior walls in running-bond wire-cut variegated-
brick veneer punctuated by concrete pilasters with canted concrete caps that frame bays originally
filled with almost full-height steel-frame windows. Continuous cast-stone sills and lintels remain, but
the company enclosed the expansive window openings with brick and much smaller, central, glass-
block windows by 1957. An original flat-roofed metal canopy embellished with Art Deco-style
geometric motifs shelters the double-leaf steel door with a flat-panel base and four-pane upper section
at the north elevation’s center. Art Deco-style sconces flank the canopy.

An elevated, corrugated-metal-clad, steel-frame, late 1950s pedestrian walkway extends from the north
bay of Mill No. 2’s east elevation to the portion of the complex east of the railroad tracks.

A one-story, single-bay-wide, brick hyphen initially connected the mid-1920s mill and the 1937
addition. After 1950, McCrary Hosiery Mills increased the hyphen to two stories in height, which
allowed for the late 1950s construction of the elevated, corrugated-metal-clad, steel-frame pedestrian
walkway that spans the distance between Mill No. 2 and the two-story 1948 Mill No. 3 on North
Church Street’s west side. Mill No. 2’s North Church Street entrance pierces the hyphen’s first-story
wall.

Southwest oblique
All photographs taken by Heather Fearnbach on September 16, 2020 unless otherwise noted

® Richard C. Biberstein plans in the Acme-McCrary Corporation’s collection.
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Southwest oblique (top), east elevation (center), looking southwest (bottom)
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1937 addition, east elevation (top), northeast oblique (center), northwest oblique (bottom, April 11, 2014)
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Exterior Rehabilitation Scope

Existing steel-frame sash were refurbished and re-glazed. Elsewhere, multi-pane aluminum sash that
emulate missing original sash were installed in existing window openings. Sash in the mid-1920s
building have thirty-six panes and eight-pane central hoppers. On the 1937 building’s north elevation,
window openings each contain a central fixed twenty-eight-pane steel sash flanked by two thirty-five-
pane sash with six-pane lower hoppers. Pairs of fixed thirty-five-pane steel sash were installed in most
openings on the 1937 building’s east and west elevations. In the east elevation’s northernmost bay and
the west elevation’s two north bays, fixed twenty-eight-pane steel sash flank a thirty-five-pane sash.
Horizontal ten-pane steel sash with six-pane central hoppers were installed in original first-story
window openings on the north circa 1940 addition’s east and north elevations. North of the circa 1940
addition, the two-story brick addition that extends from the 1937 building’s east elevation now
functions as a light well. Aluminum-frame multi-pane windows were added in the flanking apartment
walls.

Original exterior doors were refurbished; some were fixed in place. New doors were installed in a few
locations. Single-leaf flat-panel steel doors secure the two mechanical room entrances in the first-story
of the circa 1940 addition’s east elevation and the light well. Door openings were created on the east
and north elevations of the elevator shaft, which now serves as an open vestibule adjacent to a double-
leaf steel corridor door. The roll-up corrugated metal door and the double-leaf steel door at the loading
dock on the 1937 building’s east elevation were removed. A sixteen-pane aluminum-frame storefront
replaced the roll-up door. A double-leaf steel door with a flat-panel base and four-pane upper section
that emulates the original second-story door above the loading dock replaced the double-leaf door.

The T1-11 siding was removed from the late 1950s addition’s first story, revealing the steel structure
and creating an open outdoor seating area.

Interior Pre-rehabilitation

Painted brick walls; substantial wood, concrete, and steel columns, posts, and beams; wood roof
decking boards; hardwood and concrete floors; and metal kalamein doors characterize the
manufacturing areas. Single-and-double-leaf glazed and paneled wood doors secured storage and
mechanical rooms and restrooms. Fluorescent lights, sprinkler system pipes, and HVAC ductwork
hung from the ceilings. Restrooms were simply finished with rectangular oversized beige-glazed-
ceramic-tile wainscoting; patterned small, square, brown tile floors; painted-wood stall partition walls;
and white porcelain fixtures.

Chamfered heavy-timber posts and beams remain throughout the mid-1920s mill, supplemented with
steel posts and beams likely added circa 1940. McCrary Hosiery Mills replaced the first story’s wood
floor with poured concrete at about the same time. Hardwood floors cover the mid-twentieth-century
elevated platform and ramp at the first story’s west end and remain throughout the building’s second
story.

The north first-story room of the circa 1940 addition at the mill’s east end has a poured concrete floor.
The south room, which served as a loading dock staging area, had a hardwood floor above the crawl
space. Wood shelves lined the west wall and the west portion of the north wall, a vertical-board
partition that separates the two rooms. The addition’s second story was a single open room with a
hardwood floor.

Acme-McCrary Hosiery Mills Local Historic Landmark Report, Asheboro, Randolph County 20
Fearnbach History Services, Inc. / October 2022



The north circa 1940 addition’s first story contained four mechanical and boiler rooms with painted
brick walls and concrete floors. The second-story room, which was open on at its north end to the late
1950s addition and at the south end to the mid-1920s building, has a hardwood floor.

The late 1950s addition’s steel structure and wall sheathing are exposed on the interior. The first-story
floor is concrete and the second-story hardwood.

Original exterior windows on the mid-1920s mill’s north elevation were encapsulated in the hyphen
between the mid-1920s and 1937 buildings. On the first-story, the hyphen’s west section, which serves
as an east-west corridor, had a vinyl-composition-tile floor. The intersecting north-south corridor and
the mechanical rooms east of the corridor have concrete floors.

The 1937 building epitomizes the most advanced industrial construction methods of its era. Each level
contained an expansive open room. A poured-concrete foundation, concrete and steel mushroom
columns, and formed-concrete ceilings comprise the first-story structural system. The column name
derives from the flared top, which has a mushroom-like appearance. On the second story, steel posts
support steel beams spanned by wood roof decking. Hardwood second-story floors are in good
condition. Brick walls are painted on both levels.

1937 hyphen looking east (above) and adjacent corridor looking east (below)
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Mid-1920s mill and ca. 1940 addition, looking east on first-floor (top) and second floor (center)
North ca. 1940 addition, looking south (bottom)
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Late 1950s addition second floor looking northwest (top), 1937 addition first floor looking south (center)
and second floor looking west (bottom)
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Interior Rehabilitation Scope

Mid- to late-twentieth century modifications including partition walls, vinyl-composition-tile floors,
and dropped linear fluorescent lights were removed. The elevated floors at the west end of the mid-
1920s building’s first story, in the restrooms in the central hyphen, and in the east circa 1940 addition’s
south room were removed. Restroom finishes and fixtures were removed.

Fifty efficiency, one-, and two-bedroom apartments were created. All brick walls that were originally
painted were repainted. Original doors, including metal kalamain doors and single-and-double-leaf
glazed and paneled wood doors were retained and refurbished. New wood-frame partition walls
sheathed with smooth, painted gypsum board were erected as needed. Two-panel single- and double-
leaf wood doors were installed in apartments and double-leaf wood partially-glazed doors secure
common areas. Original ceiling height was maintained to the greatest extent possible.

Concrete floors were stained. Bedrooms and some closets in areas with concrete floors are carpeted.
Existing second-story hardwood floors were repaired and refinished. Floor boards that have been
damaged beyond repair or are missing were replaced with wood boards that match the existing
adjacent flooring. Wood baseboards and quarter-round molding were installed. Three common
laundry rooms have vinyl-composition-tile floors.

Site Improvements in 2022

A freestanding running-bond red-brick sign base with a concrete cap was erected in the front lawn’s
northeast section. A vertical-bar steel railing was installed on the south entrance landing. The loading
dock platform adjacent to the apartment entrance on the east elevation of the east circa 1940 addition
also received a vertical-bar steel railing. On the north circa 1940 addition’s east elevation, the steel
steps and landing that provided access to the second-story entrance were removed and a small steel
balcony with a vertical-bar steel railing was installed. The loading dock that abuts the 1937 building’s
east elevation was modified to create an accessibility ramp with vertical-bar steel railings. The ramp’s
lower portion curves as it extends southeast. Concrete-capped brick walls were repaired. The chain-
link fencing was replaced with an approximately four-and-a-half-foot-tall black-finished aluminum
fence with slender pickets. Evergreen and deciduous shrubs were planted along the fence northeast of
the ramp and south of the mill. A dumpster enclosure was erected in the municipal parking lot.
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Acme-McCrary-Sapona Recreation Center, 148 North Street, 1949, 2019

Henderson, North Carolina, architect Eric G. Flannagan designed the distinctive Art Moderne-style
two-story brick recreation center constructed between April 1948 and December 1949. In conjunction
with the City of Asheboro’s $1.8-million renovation of the building to serve as a public fitness center,
the “Acme-McCrary & Sapona Fitness Center” sign above the west entrance was replaced with an
“Asheboro Recreation Center” sign. A similar larger “City of Asheboro Recreation Center” sign is
mounted on the east elevation beneath five colorful panels displaying Olympic symbols for running,
swimming, basketball, table tennis, and volleyball. The Asheboro Recreation Center opened in
December 20109.

The recreation center has five-to-one-common-bond wire-cut yellow-brick walls accented with cast-
stone window surrounds and spandrels and a cast-stone water table and cornice. The three-part, seven-
bay facade encompasses a recessed central section flanked by two wings with corners that step back to
the outside edges. The projecting one-story entrance bay contains three double-leaf aluminum doors
surmounted by geometric-patterned transoms. Tall glass-block windows border the entrance and light
the gymnasium. Brick pilasters with canted cast-stone caps frame most of the gymnasium window
bays on the side elevations. Aluminum-frame one-over-one sash and transoms were installed in office
and community room window openings that originally contained steel-frame horizontal-pane sash in
2019. Concurrently, a yellow brick and concrete accessibility ramp with tubular steel railings was
erected adjacent to south wing’s west elevation. A one-story, gable-roofed, brick swimming pool wing
illuminated by large, aluminum-frame, tinted insulated-glass windows projects from the south
elevation’s east section. The large deck and stair at the pool wing’s east end received vertical-bar
railings in 2019.

West elevation, March 14, 2020
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Southwest oblique (top), southeast oblique (center), and north elevation (bottom)
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Interior

Beginning in December 1949, employees and their guests enjoyed the 1,200-seat combination
gymnasium and auditorium, heated swimming pool, bowling alleys, volleyball courts, and ping-pong
tables; a cafeteria and commissary; lounge, reading, television, shower, and locker rooms; and two
apartments.” Many original features are intact. In the lobby, tri-colored basketweave-pattern linoleum
covers the floor and display cases flank the central wire-cut yellow-brick fireplace and chimney. Four
double-leaf doors with streamlined modern handles lead into the gymnasium/auditorium, which
features an exposed bow-arch steel-truss roof system, large rectangular cream tile wainscoting,
hardwood floors, collapsible wood bleachers, and a stage at the east end. First- and second-story
offices, meeting rooms, and other spaces have plaster walls. Most doors have glazed upper sections.
Restrooms contain pink marble partition walls, square tile wainscots and mosaic floors, and original
Art Deco-style white ceramic fixtures.

Large rectangular yellow-glazed tiles sheathe most basement walls, providing hygienic and easy-to-
clean surfaces in the cafeteria (which currently serves as an aerobics room), commissary, other
gathering spaces, halls, and locker rooms. Three built-in refrigerators and freezers occupy the
kitchen’s south wall, which is sheathed in aluminum panels and retains three horizontal-wood-paneled
doors. A soda fountain and a jukebox once occupied the area near the basement bowling lanes, which
were removed to create a weight room. Carpenters utilized some of the lane flooring to create benches
for the basement. The swimming pool features exposed bow-arch steel-trusses, skylights, a corrugated
metal roof, large rectangular cream tile wainscoting, and a mosaic tile floor. Acoustical-tile ceilings
and fluorescent lights, sprinkler system pipes, and HVAC ductwork are present in most areas other
than the gymnasium and swimming pool. The 2019 rehabilitation included gymnasium, pool, office,
meeting, and fitness room refurbishment; kitchen renovation; and interior finishes, systems, and
accessibility updates.

Gymnasium/Auditorium looking east, April 11, 2014

7 Jack Abernathy, “Building Will Be Pleasure To Workers,” Greenshoro Daily News, December 24, 1949.
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Lobby looking east, March 11, 2011 (above) and south, April 11, 2014 (below)
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Pool looking east (above) and second-floor meeting room looking northeast (below), April 11, 2014
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Integrity Statement

Acme-McCrary Hosiery Mills encompasses two of Asheboro’s most intact early- to mid-twentieth-
century knitting mills as well as an associated recreation center. Although Acme Hosiery Mills and
McCrary Hosiery Mills erected a series of additions to accommodate increased production during the
period of significance, the complex has experienced remarkably little alteration over decades of
continuous use. The edifices manifest technological evolution from heavy-timber frame with load-
bearing brick walls to steel and concrete structural systems. Particularly significant early features
include large double-hung, multi-pane, wood-sash windows in segmental-arched surrounds and a long
gabled roof monitor with four-foot-tall side walls and operable wood sash windows that provided
supplementary light for second stories of the 1909 mill and 1915 and 1917 additions. Large steel-
frame multi-pane windows remain in most post-1924 buildings and additions. McCrary Hosiery Mill
No. 2, built in 1937 with a steel and concrete structural system retains first-floor concrete mushroom
columns and running-bond wire-cut variegated-brick-veneered walls with cast-stone accents. The
Acme-McCrary-Sapona Recreation Center features five-to-one-common-bond wire-cut yellow-brick
walls accented with cast-stone window surrounds and spandrels and a cast-stone water table and
cornice. Double-leaf aluminum doors surmounted by geometric-patterned-transoms remain at the
north entrance flanked by tall glass-block windows, which also light the gymnasium. The complex
manifests changing stylistic preferences ranging from the corbelled Italianate window and door hoods
on the 1909 mill’s facade to the Art Moderne elements of McCrary Hosiery Mill No. 2 and the 1949
Acme-McCrary-Sapona recreation center.

Historical Background

North Carolina’s earliest hosiery manufacturing entities included the Randleman Hosiery Mill in
Randolph County, incorporated in 1893, and the Durham Hosiery Company and the Golden Belt
Hosiery Company, also in Durham, both established in 1895. By 1914 the state’s seventy-four knitting
plants employed approximately eight thousand workers who produced almost nine million dollars-
worth of stockings. Most hosiery mills were located in central North Carolina cities with strong textile
manufacturing traditions such as Asheboro, Burlington, Hickory, High Point, and Winston-Salem.®

Seventeen Asheboro businessmen created Acme Hosiery Company in 1907. The concern incorporated
as Acme Hosiery Mills on December 15, 1908, and stockholders met on January 5, 1909, to elect
officers and a board of directors and to vet potential mill sites. D. B. McCrary served as the first
president, C. C. Cranford vice-president, and O. R. Cox secretary and treasurer, leading a board
comprised of William J. Armfield Jr., William F. Hughes, Earnest L. Auman, and Edwin H. Morris.
The enterprise initially maintained an office in the McCrary-Redding Hardware Company’s North
Street warehouse. On January 30, 1909, D. B. and Allie McCrary, T. H. and Pattie W. Redding, and
W. J. and J. Alice Miller sold the parcel at North and West Salisbury Street’s southwest corner to
Acme Hosiery Mills for $1,000. Builders began erecting a two-story brick mill on the site in February.
Brothers-in-law and hardware and farm machinery purveyors D. B. McCrary and T. H. Redding

8 Brent D. Glass, The Textile Industry in North Carolina: A History (Raleigh: North Carolina Department of
Cultural Resources, Division of Archives and History, 1992), 44; L. Barron Mills Jr., Randolph County: A Brief History
(Raleigh: Office of Archives and History, 2008), 89; Jean Bradley Anderson, Durham County: A History of Durham
County, North Carolina (Durham: Duke University Press, 1990), 213.
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partnered with banker W. J. Armfield Jr. to assume the operation’s ownership later that year. Their
management soon transformed the cotton sock-knitting mill into a successful venture.®

Acme Hosiery Mills employed twenty-two men and thirty-eight women in 1911. The following year,
Acme and Randleman Hosiery Mills remained Randolph County’s sole knitting plants. Acme workers
utilized eighty steam-powered seamless hosiery machines and six sewing machines to generate
$65,000-worth of black, burgundy, grey, and white socks. As German dyes were the most colorfast
available at that time, Acme purchased supplies from the Berlin Aniline Works until World War I’s
onset. In order to facilitate greater fiber quality control, McCrary, Redding, and Armfield established
Sapona Cotton Mills on March 20, 1916, soon improving the Cedar Falls Manufacturing Company
complex, established in 1829 on Deep River’s banks just over seven miles from Asheboro. The
enterprise then provided Acme Hosiery Mills with cotton yarns. Acme constructed two-story additions
at its fasheboro mill in 1915 and 1917, increasing the facility’s capacity to 42,000 stocking pairs

daily.

By 1921, Randolph County’s hosiery knitting mills had grown in number to four: Acme, Asheboro,
Randleman, and Staley. Acme Hosiery Mills employees operated 400 knitting machines and 45
sewing machines for 300 days. The following year, W. J. Armfield Jr. served as the company’s
president; D. B. McCrary its secretary, treasurer, and buyer; and Kemp Alexander its superintendent.
Workers manned equipment including 10 ribbing, 11 sewing, 22 looping, and 425 knitting machines.**

In 1924, Sapona Cotton Mills’s 200 employees ran 12,000 spindles and Acme Hosiery Mills’s 200
workers generated $300,000-worth of cotton and rayon stockings. The three-story addition completed
that year on the Acme plant’s south end accommodated fine-gauge circular knitting machines. The
company soon diversified its operations to include full-fashioned (with seams at the back of each leg)
silk hosiery manufactured under the auspices of a third business, McCrary Hosiery Mills, created
around 1927. As the operation required more square footage and equipment, Charlotte architect
Richard C. Biberstein designed the contiguous two-story steel-frame building completed in 1928.
Biberstein’s firm also prepared plans for the two four- and eight-bay additions to the south that
followed the next year. The plant growth allowed Acme to increase its equipment from 650 silk,
rayon, and cotton hosiery knitting machines in 1931 to 850 such machines in 1935. McCrary’s plants
then contained 92 full-fashioned silk hosiery knitting machines. Sapona Cotton Mills comprised
12,584 spindles and 188 looms used to produce Osnaburg and hosiery yarns.

% «“Acme Hosiery Mills Co.,” Courier, January 7, 1909, p. 1; Courier, February 4, 1909, p. 1; Randolph County
Deed Book 135, p. 88.

10 Acme Hosiery Mills acquired the lot upon which the 1917 addition stands in April of that year. M. L. Shipman,
Twenty-Fifth Annual Report of the Department of Labor and Printing of the State of North Carolina, 1911 (Raleigh: E. M.
Uzzell and Company, 1911), 152; M. L. Shipman, Twenty-Sixth Annual Report of the Department of Labor and Printing of
the State of North Carolina (Raleigh: Edwards & Broughton Printing Company, 1912), 142-143, 146; Randolph County
Deed Book 173, p. 19; “The Story of McCrary Hosiery Mills, Inc. and Acme Hosiery Mills, Inc.,” Textile Age, April 1949,
unpaginated.

' M. L. Shipman, Thirty-Second Report of the Department of Labor and Printing of the State of North Carolina,
1919-1920 (Raleigh: Edwards and Broughton Printing Company, 1921), 82-83, 90-91; “Acme Hosiery Mill,” American
Wool and Cotton Reporter: Section Two, Volume XXXVI, No. 7, February 16, 1922, p. 789.

12 Fred Burgess, Randolph County, Economic and Social (Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, Department
of Rural Social Economics, May 1924), 41; News and Observer, The North Carolina Yearbook, 1931 and 1935; “Acme
Hosiery Mills,” “Central Falls Manufacturing Company,” “D. B. McCrary Store Building,” McCrary Hosiery Mills,”
“Sapona Cotton Mills,” drawings and project files, 1926-1956, Biberstein, Bowles, Meacham & Reed Records, J. Murrey
Atkins Library Special Collections, University of North Carolina at Charlotte.

Acme-McCrary Hosiery Mills Local Historic Landmark Report, Asheboro, Randolph County 31
Fearnbach History Services, Inc. / October 2022



The Acme and McCrary hosiery mills” successes epitomize statewide trends in the industry. North
Carolina was second only to Pennsylvania in the number of hosiery mills operating in 1927, when 117
plants in thirty-five counties employed approximately 15,500 workers and produced hosiery valued at
almost $53 million. Alamance County contained the largest number of hosiery mills (26), followed by
Guilford County (15), Catawba County (10), Burke and Durham counties (8 each), and Forsyth and
Randolph counties (5 each). In 1936, North Carolina’s 187 hosiery mills (of the South’s 239)
encompassed 2,028 full-fashioned hosiery machines. By the late 1930s, more new hosiery mills were
being established in North Carolina than any other type of industrial plant. In 1938, entrepreneurs
erected forty-four new plants and expanded thirty-eight existing hosiery mills, resulting in a total of
249 hosiery mills (75 full-fashioned and 174 seamless) by 1939. North Carolina manufactured
approxir?sately twenty-six percent of the nation’s hosiery that year, almost doubling the state’s product
in 1929.

Diversification was particularly important during the early 1930s, which brought challenges to the
textile industry nationwide. Mechanization transformed manufacturing operations, with more efficient
equipment resulting in mill employee layoffs. Job loss, decreased pay, and poor working conditions
thus made unions more appealing to mill workers. The Great Depression further contributed to pay
cuts and job losses in Asheboro and elsewhere, and set the stage for mill employees across the South to
participate in the General Textile Strike of 1934, which closed down textile mills throughout the
region. Many mill owners fired known union members and sympathizers. Union efforts were not in
vain, however, as the Roosevelt administration’s social and economic reform programs eventually
resulted in the institution of a forty-hour work week and increased worker pay.**

The Acme and McCrary hosiery mills and Sapona Cotton Mills maintained production during the
Great Depression while weathering the economic downturn. McCrary, Redding, and Armfield family
members and long-time Acme Hosiery Mills superintendent Kemp Alexander continued to function as
officers of the three companies. In March 1931, Acme Hosiery Mills enlarged its plant by purchasing
for $84,000 the adjacent Parks Hosiery Mill and its contents on North Church Street.™ Sapona Cotton
Mills converted to a silk throwing facility in 1936 in response to consumer demand for silk stockings.
McCrary Hosiery Mills completed a sizable addition to the former Parks Hosiery plant in 1937, setting
the stage for the company to become one of thirty-two hosiery mills in the United States authorized to
weave DuPont’s new nylon fiber after its 1938 introduction. McCrary Hosiery Mills remained
Asheboro’s largest full-fashioned hosiery business that year, with between seven and eight hundred
employees. Acme-McCrary Hosiery Mills further expanded in 1938 through the construction of a
plant in Ramseur. In 1939, Acme employees utilized 850 knitting machines to generate silk, rayon,
and cotton hosiery, while McCrary workers operated 125 full-fashioned silk hosiery knitting machines

3 Marvin Shirley, “Of 672 Mills In County, State Has 117, Is Second to Pennsylvania With 277,” The Charlotte
Observer, November 23, 1930; Robert Menzies, “Stockings Miss North Carolina Buys From Chicago Probably Made at
Home,” News and Observer (Raleigh), October 24, 1937; “Migration,” News and Observer, January 29, 1939; C. H.
McGregor, The Hosiery Manufacturing Industry in North Carolina and Its Marketing Problems, Research Paper 15,
Graduate School of Business Administration, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, June 1965, 6-7.

1 Jacquelyn Dowd Hall, James Leloudis, Robert Korstad, Mary Murphy, Lu Ann Jones and Christopher B. Daly,
Like a Family: The Making of the Southern Cotton Mill World (New York: W.W. Norton and Company, 1987), 202-208;
Margaret Crawford, Building the Workingman’s Paradise: The Design of American Company Towns (London and New
York: Verso, 1995), 194-195.

15 Acme Hosiery Mills also purchased $5,000-worth of Cetwick Silk Mills stock in March 1931. Randolph
County Deed Book 227, p. 630.
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and the Ramseur plant contained 15 full-fashioned knitting machines. Sapona Cotton Mills comprised
6,544 spindles and 6,000 silk-throwing machines, generating Osnaburg as well as hosiery yarns.*°

Acme-McCrary Hosiery Mills gradually acquired property surrounding the Asheboro plant to facilitate
future growth. One such tract on North and Worth (now Trade) streets’ northeast corner contained a
row of attached commercial buildings erected at different times between 1900 and 1920. A one-story
store, a one-and-one-half-story automobile service garage with a twenty-five car capacity, and a two-
story commercial building with three storefronts fronted North Street by April 1922, when the
structure to the east, originally a livery stable, functioned as retail space. The building configuration
remained the same through 1935, when Richard C. Biberstein’s firm planned the complex’s conversion
for Asheboro Grocery Company’s use as a warehouse. The architects specified a wire-cut variegated-
brick fagade to unify the North Street elevation and interior modifications including a steel structural
system’s installation in the south building. At the time contractors completed the renovation, Alton R.
Hix served as Asheboro Grocery Company’s president, Pattie Walker Redding its vice-president, and
D. B. McCrary its secretary-treasurer.*’

North Carolinians rose to the challenges of World War Il in the early 1940s. Approximately 4,500
Randolph County residents served in the military during the war, and those left behind were occupied
with the war effort in a variety of ways, from participating in bond drives to filling vacant positions at
mills and factories that accelerated their production to meet the needs of servicemen and women.
Industrial jobs increased by seventy-five percent in the South over the course of World War |1, with
traditionally underemployed groups such as women, African Americans, and the elderly receiving
invaluable education, training, and experience. Output soared after May 1943, when President
Franklin D. Roosevelt established the Office of War Mobilization to coordinate a diverse array of
support endeavors including manufacturing, scientific research, and agricultural production.*®

Asheboro’s industrial development burgeoned during this period, far surpassing the twentieth century’s
earlier decades. Although World War 11 silk importation and nylon rationing presented stocking
production challenges, the Acme and McCrary hosiery mills furnished the military with nylon for
parachutes, ponchos, and other items. Reflecting its increased synthetic yarn production, Sapona
Cotton Mills changed its name to Sapona Manufacturing Company in 1942 and increased its plant’s
size considerably in 1946. J. F. McCrary served as the concern’s president and W. A. Underwood Jr.
managed the nylon throwing facility. McCrary Hosiery Mills expanded its Asheboro complex with a

18 North Carolina Division of Commerce and Industry, North Carolina Department of Labor, and the Works
Progress Administration, Industrial Directory and Reference Book of the State of North Carolina, 1938, 506; News and
Observer, The North Carolina Yearbook, 1939; Acme-McCrary Hosiery Mills. Acme-McCrary: Fifty Years in Hosiery,
1909-1959 (Raleigh, NC: Edwards & Broughton Company, 1959), not paginated; “Acme-McCrary celebrates 75 years of
history,” Courier-Tribune (Asheboro), October 21, 1984, p. 4; Chip Womack, “Families, not family, remain key
ingredient,” Courier-Tribune, October 31, 1999, pp. 1A and 12A; Larry Penkava, “McCrary Gym was gathering place,”
Randolph Guide, April 7, 1999, pp. 1 and 11; Sapona Manufacturing Company, Inc., “History of Sapona Manufacturing,”
Cedar Falls, N. C., 2006.

7 Between April and June 1932, Acme Hosiery Mills, Inc., purchased three tracts on North Street’s east side that
had previously belonged to T. H. Redding. Sanborn Map Company, Asheboro, North Carolina, Sheet 2, May 1910, April
1922, and April 1931; Randolph County Deed Book 252, p. 260; Deed Book 256, pp. 261 and 349; Miller’s Asheboro, N.
C., City Directory, 1937; “Store Building for Asheboro Grocery Co.,” H. V. Biberstein plans dated October 1935 in the
Acme-McCrary Corporation’s collection.

18 Marilyn M. Harper, et. al., World War Il and the American Home Front (Washington, D. C.: The National
Historic Landmarks Program, October 2007), 3, 13-16; Randolph County Historical Society, Randolph County, 1779-1979
(Winston-Salem: Hunter Publishing Company, 1980), 179-180.
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second-story addition above the dye room in 1947. Ramseur Hosiery Mills invested in a new plant in
1947 and remained an independent corporation until merging with McCrary in 1948. The following
year, the company’s four plants’ approximately 1,500 employees produced 360,000 pairs of ladies’
hosiery per week. Acme workers operated 800 fine-gauge seamless machines and McCrary staffed
100 full-fashioned machines.™

Acme Hosiery Mills superintendent Kemp Alexander, who oversaw operations for almost four
decades, retired in 1948. He continued to serve as a company vice-president and a member of the
Board of Directors until his 1963 death. His son, World War Il veteran John Wilson Alexander,
managed Acme’s seamless hosiery division’s quality control department for twelve years. The late
1940s also brought physical expansion, as the corporation invested in two of Asheboro’s most
distinctive Art Moderne-style structures: McCrary Hosiery Mill No. 3, a knitting, looping, and seaming
facility at 173 North Church Street completed in 1948, and the approximately $500,000 Acme-
McCrary-Sapona Recreation Center at 148 North Street, finished in 1949.% The McCrarys, who were
instrumental in Randolph Hospital and Asheboro High School’s construction, worked with architect
Eric G. Flannagan on those projects and thus commissioned him to render the recreation center in the
same style.

Acme Hosiery Mills and McCrary Hosiery Mills had previously afforded their employees with myriad
recreational opportunities, sponsoring athletic teams, classes, and social clubs. The McCrary Eagles
basketball and semi-professional baseball teams garnered winning records beginning in the 1930s. The
baseball team won the North Carolina championship in 1937 and went on to attain a ranking of fifth in
the national tournament. Company owners and employees incorporated a recreational association in
April 1941 to facilitate programming as well as fundraising for a structure to accommodate such
activities. However, World War I1’s onset delayed the building’s construction, which finally
commenced in April 1948. Beginning in December 1949, employees and their guests enjoyed a 1,200-
seat combination gymnasium and auditorium, heated swimming pool, bowling alleys, volleyball
courts, and ping-pong tables; a cafeteria and commissary; lounge, reading, television, shower, and
locker rooms; and two apartments. The McCrary Eagles played Davidson College in the basketball
game that marked the facility’s opening. Athletic director Paul Clyde Cheek, his assistants Ab
Williams and Bill Sheets, cafeteria manager Jennie Thurston, and commissary operator Guy Clodfelter
served as the center’s initial staff. The company also subsidized the 1949 completion of McCrary
Field, an 8.77-acre baseball park at 138 Southway Road.**

9 Acme-McCrary-Sapona, “Service Awards 1948;” “The Story of McCrary Hosiery Mills, Inc. and Acme Hosiery
Mills, Inc.,” Textile Age, April 1949.

% Kemp Alexander attained a degree from North Carolina Agricultural and Mechanical College’s Textile
Department in 1900. John Wilson Alexander, born in 1919, also matriculated at the institution and worked at Acme
Hosiery Mills until his death in 1957. “The Story of McCrary Hosiery Mills, Inc. and Acme Hosiery Mills, Inc.,” Textile
Age, April 1949; Eleanor Bell Alexander and Margaret Alexander Stevens, “Kemp Alexander,” in Cheryl Lynn Martin, ed.,
The Heritage of Randolph County, North Carolina, Volume | (Asheboro, N. C.: Randolph County Heritage Book
Committee, 1993), 29, 130.

21 Elon College physical education program graduate Paul C. Cheek began his career as a shipping clerk at Sapona
Cotton Mills in 1936 and soon began coaching the company’s baseball and basketball teams. He became recreation
director in 1939. “America’s Greatest Semi-Pro Baseball Teams,” 1937; “O’Quinn Gets Honors...Eagles Dedicate
Gymnasium,” December 5, 1949, and “Cheek’s Career Reflects Twenty Years of Athletics,” ca. 1959, newspaper clippings
in a scrapbook in the possession of the Acme-McCrary Corporation; “McCrary Wins Semi-Pro Title,” Enterprise, July 16,
1937; “Asheboro Mill Workers Hold Annual Meeting,” Greensboro Daily News, December 22, 1949; Jack Abernathy,
“Building Will Be Pleasure To Workers,” Greensboro Daily News, December 24, 1949; “Acme-McCrary Organization
Announces Formation of A Recreation Association,” Courier-Tribune, December 22, 1943; Adrian Brodeur, “Balanced
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Randolph County’s 35 hosiery plants (17 seamless, 15 full-fashioned, and 3 knitting) employed 4,457
workers in 1953. Strong product demand necessitated plant growth. Around 1955, McCrary Hosiery
Mills assumed use of the entire building at 124 North Street as a warehouse, print shop, and carpentry
shop. Acme Hosiery Mills commissioned the construction of a state-of-the-art brick-veneered
seamless knitting mill on an 11.58-acre parcel at 647 East Pritchard Street in 1956. The same year,
Sapona Manufacturing Company enlarged its complex to facilitate the production of a greater variety
of nylon yarns. By 1959, Robert W. Hughes, Charles W. McCrary, J. Frank McCrary, T. Henry
Redding, W. Howard Redding, and William A. Underwood managed Acme and McCrary hosiery
mills’s 1,800 employees. Executives oversaw production facilities in Asheboro, Cedar Falls, and
Ramseur, and salespeople marketed its product from offices in Asheboro, Chicago, Dallas, New York
City, and San Francisco.?

In the late 1950s, Acme Hosiery Mills and McCrary Hosiery Mills faced challenges resulting from
women’s fashion shifts that dramatically impacted the hosiery industry. When full-fashioned hosiery
declined in popularity, the associated job of sewing seams became obsolete. McCrary laid off many of
its full-fashioned knitters in March 1958 due to what it deemed the hosiery industry’s “deplorable
condition.” The action reflected a broader trend, as although almost half (49.4 percent) of the nation’s
hosiery mills were located in North Carolina in 1958, the state’s full-fashioned hosiery mills decreased
sixty-one percent in number (from 414 to 159 plants) by 1963.%

The Acme and McCrary hosiery mills’s reorganization and expansion during this period included
merging on April 1, 1961, to form the Acme-McCrary Corporation. Charles Walker McCrary served
as president, T. Henry Redding and W. Howard Redding vice-presidents, J. Frank McCrary treasurer,
and Robert W. Hughes secretary. Improvements at the Asheboro complexes included a new North
Street office and warehouse erected in 1962 and enlarged in 1972 and the Pritchard Street facility’s
1970 expansion. Sapona Manufacturing Company president T. Henry Redding orchestrated new
product development such as stretch nylon yarns. As long-tenured employees retired, management
duties shifted. Sapona plant manager William A. Underwood worked until 1967, when his assistant
manager L. Frank Henry assumed the facility’s oversight.**

Sports Program Offered By McCrary Gym,” Greensboro Record, January 10, 1953; Acme-McCrary-Sapona, “Service
Awards 1973: Featuring the Recreational Association.” Asheboro engineer Richard H. Moore prepared plans for the
Acme-McCrary Recreation Association’s baseball practice field in December 1946. Plans in the Acme-McCrary
Corporation’s collection.

22 Acme-McCrary expanded the East Pritchard Street complex with the construction of a concrete block warehouse
in 1985. “Acme-McCrary Leading Firm in State’s Hosiery Industry,” The Employment Security Commission Quarterly,
Winter-Spring 1953, p. 30; Acme-McCrary Hosiery Mills. Acme-McCrary: Fifty Years in Hosiery, 1909-1959, not
paginated; Chip Womick, “Families, not family, remain key ingredient,” Courier-Tribune, October 31, 1999, pp. 1A and
12A-14A; “Building Summary,” Randolph County Tax Department.

2 “Multiple Machinery Work Begins at McCrary Mill,” Courier-Tribune, March 10, 1958, p. 2; C. H. McGregor,
The Hosiery Manufacturing Industry in North Carolina and Its Marketing Problems, Research Paper 15, Graduate School
of Business Administration, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, June 1965, 7, 23.

# Acme-McCrary Hosiery Mills, Acme-McCrary: Fifty Years in Hosiery, 1909-1959, not paginated; “Acme and
McCrary To Merge April 1,” High Point Enterprise, March 2, 1961, p. 8B; Miller’s Asheboro, N. C., City Directory, 1962;
Acme-McCrary-Sapona, “Service Awards 1971: Featuring the Sapona Story;” Womick, “Families, not family, remain key
ingredient; “Acme Hosiery Mills, Inc.,” “Acme Hosiery Corporation,” “Sapona Cotton Mills, Inc.,” and “Sapona
Manufacturing Company, Inc.,” Business Corporation Information, North Carolina Department of the Secretary of State,
http://www.secretary.state.nc.us/corporations/, accessed in November 2013.
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As new competitors emerged and the industry continued to change, the Acme and McCrary hosiery
mills’s owners explored other textile manufacturing avenues.?® They partnered with Frank and Jeanne
Guest, who established girls’ sportswear producer Marlowe Manufacturing Company in Florence,
South Carolina, in May 1959. The business became a subsidiary of Acme-McCrary Corporation in
June 1963, with Frank Guest remaining its president and Charles Walker McCrary chairing the board
of directors.?®

Fashion trends influenced the hosiery industry again in the 1970s as more women began wearing pants
and therefore purchased short stockings, which were much less labor-intensive to produce than
pantyhose, or dispensed with hosiery altogether. Acme-McCrary Corporation thus diversified into
sport sock manufacture in the late 1970s. By 1982, demand fueled company-wide high-speed knitting
machine purchases and plant expansions. The ongoing decline of sheer hosiery’s popularity allowed
Acme-McCrary to absorb four competitors between 1996 and 2004: Roane Hosiery Mill of Tennessee
and in North Carolina, Laughlin Hosiery of Randleman, Vision Hosiery of Spruce Pine, and Phantom,
Inc., of Canada’s Siler City manufacturing facility, Phantom USA. Subsequent expansions included
opening a finishing plant in close proximity to San Pedro Sula in Honduras in 2008. The company
moved manufacturing operations from Asheboro to a second Siler City location in 2012. Acme-
McCrary Corporation continues to design, develop, and produce socks, sheer hosiery, and seamless
apparel such as women'’s active wear and lingerie, primarily for private labels including Wal-Mart
Stores, Inc.; J. C. Penney Company, Inc.; and Spanx, a shapewear purveyor established by Sara
Blakely in 2002.%

Asheboro’s Industrial Development

The completion of a Southern Railway line through Asheboro in July 1889 spurred development and
the municipality’s population exploded, almost doubling every decade between 1890 and 1930. John
Milton Worth established two of the city’s earliest manufactories, Asheboro Roller Mills and a lumber
mill, abutting the railroad tracks. After an early 1890s fire destroyed many commercial buildings on
Main Street’s east side near the courthouse, other entrepreneurs followed suit, erecting brick mills and
factories on lots closer to the railroad than the courthouse. The McAlister family began operating
Asheboro’s first hosiery mill in a brick commercial building at the intersection of Salisbury and Main
streets in the late 1890s.?®

In 1900, Asheboro Roller Mills and Home Building and Materials Company owners J. D. Ross, Arthur
Ross, and W. J. Scarboro erected an electric generator to power their adjacent plants. Arthur Ross
partnered with C. C. Cranford in 1905 to form the Asheboro Electric Company, making power
available to other townspeople. The city purchased the company in 1911, but afforded residents use of
electric power only at night given the demands of local industries.*

% Randolph County entrepreneurs established approximately thirty new hosiery mills, mostly small concerns with
fewer than twelve employees, between 1955 and 1970. Mills, Randolph County: A Brief History, 109.

% Acme-McCrary-Sapona, “Service Awards 1972: Featuring the Marlowe Story.”

% Charlene Nelson, “Acme-McCrary Corporation Now Largest Manufacturer of Private Label Sheers,” Legwear
Trends and Fashions, March 2004, pp. 12 and 13; J. D. Walker, “Local Textile Firm Grows,” Courier-Tribune, January 6,
2004, pp. 1 and 2A; Larry Penkava, “Acme-McCrary expanding,” Randolph Guide, December 12, 2007, pp. 1 and 10A;
Justin Catanoso, “Spanx giving a lift to Acme-McCrary,” Triad Business Journal, November 5, 2010.

%8 Whatley, Architectural History of Randolph County, 188-189; Mills, Randolph County: A Brief History, 86;
Hammer and Lambert, “History of Asheboro (to 1938),” 5.

# Whatley, Architectural History of Randolph County, 192.
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Seventeen Asheboro businessmen invested in textile manufacturing with Acme Hosiery Company’s
1907 creation. The enterprise prospered, eventually sharing a complex just north of Asheboro’s central
commercial district with McCrary Hosiery Mills, established around 1927. The North Street plant
expanded with the companies’ exponential growth.

Early furniture-making endeavors included those of industrialist C. C. Cranford, who in 1908
purchased property on Church Street south of Asheboro’s commercial center that contained the
Randolph Chair Company as well as vacant buildings that once functioned as the Asheboro Furniture
Company. In 1917, Cranford constructed a two-story brick building to house Asheboro Hosiery Mills,
which grew from a plant with approximately thirty employees operating thirty seamless hosiery
machines to become one of Randolph County’s largest industrial concerns, employing six hundred
workers who used one thousand circular knitting machines to manufacture sixty thousand pairs of hose
daily in 1937. Around 1918, he erected the first new building in the Cranford Furniture Company
complex. By 1938, his businesses, collectively known as Cranford Industries, encompassed Asheboro
Hosiery Mills, Cranford Furniture Company, National Chair Company, Piedmont Chair Company,
Standard Tytape Company, and the Asheboro Hardwood Company and provided jobs for fifteen
hundred Randolph County residents. The company enlarged the Asheboro Hosiery Mills complex and
the Cranford Furniture Company factory significantly in the late 1930s and 1940s as demand resulted
in increased production.*

Although Asheboro Hosiery and the Acme and McCrary hosiery mills initially dominated the local
hosiery manufacturing scene, brothers Charles G. and Joseph C. Bossong, who incorporated Bossong
Mills in New York in 1927 and erected a 25,000-square foot Asheboro plant in 1928, transformed
Asheboro’s hosiery industry through the introduction of the full-fashioned stocking fabrication process
to the city. The company’s approximately thirty employees initially operated ten knitting machines.
By 1938, Bossong Mills employed between 450 and 500 workers, making them almost as large an
operation as Asheboro Hosiery Mills, which had around six hundred employees that year. The
company was one of the first hosiery mills in the country to weave DuPont’s new nylon fiber, which
was introduced in 1938 but was in limited supply during World War 1l due to its use for military
applications. Hosiery mills were forced to utilize silk, which was also difficult to procure as Japan was
the world’s primary supplier. In 1953, the Bossong plant’s sixty full-fashioned machines knitted
ladies’ hosiery marketed by a New York sales representative. Due to changing demand, the company
transitioned completely from full-fashioned to seamless hosiery manufacture in 1959. Bossong Mills
still produces hosiery at their 840 West Salisbury Street complex.

% sanborn Map Company, Asheboro, North Carolina, May 1910; Sheet 2, April 1922, Sheet 3; and April 1931,
Sheet 1; Burgess, Randolph County, Economic and Social, 41; “Cranford Furniture Manufacturing Plant,” Burlington Daily
Times, July 21, 1931, p. 4; “Keystone of Stability in Cranford Enterprises,” News and Observer, April 7, 1935; “Cranford
Furniture Company Develops Into an Outstanding Unit of the Cranford Group,” “Hardwood Plant Latest Addition to
Cranford Group,” and “Standard Tytape Company One of Largest Tape Plants Operating in North Carolina,” The Randolph
Tribune, Randolph County Progress Edition, circa 1937, p. 3; Mrs. W. C. Hammer and Miss Massa E. Lambert, “History of
Asheboro (to 1938),” Courier-Tribune, 1938, reprinted by the Randolph County Historical Society, 1968, 5; “75™ Birthday
Today,” News and Observer article reprinted in an unnamed newspaper on February 2, 1950, “James A. Hayworth, “The
Industrial Development of Asheboro, North Carolina,” 9; Whatley, Architectural History of Randolph County, North
Carolina, 195, 223; Chip Womick, “A dream that just ran out of steam,” Courier-Tribune, October 29, 1999, p. A10.

*! North Carolina Division of Commerce and Industry, et. al., Industrial Directory and Reference Book of the State
of North Carolina, 1938, 506; “Bossong Mills,” http://bossongmills.com/, accessed in December 2010; “Bossong Hosiery
Mills, Inc.,” The Employment Security Commission Quarterly, Winter-Spring 1953, p. 30; Chip Womack, “Bossongs keep
changing to keep up in tough business,” Courier-Tribune, October 28, 1999, pp. 1A and 16A.
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The number of hosiery concerns located in Asheboro increased significantly during the 1930s. Parks
Hosiery Mills, owned and managed by Hugh Parks, produced ladies’ silk and rayon hose with 176
knitting machines in 1931. J. Roosevelt Hinshaw’s company, Hinshaw Hosiery Mills, employed fewer
than ten workers who wove children’s socks on thirty circular knitting machines in 1939. N. McLaurin
Cranford purchased Keystone Hosiery in the late 1930s and established McLaurin Hosiery Mills. The
plant’s approximately 200 employees manufactured “men’s banner wrap and misses’ anklets” on 183
circular knitting machines in 1939. Cranford sold the enterprise to Burlington Mills before his death in
1945 and the company commissioned the northern building’s construction in 1947.3

Arthur Ross founded Tip-Top Hosiery Mills in 1932 to produce men’s hosiery. In 1939, the company
owned $35,000-worth of assets including one hundred knitting machines and employed between 75
and 100 workers. His son Arthur Ross Jr. served as president in 1953, when the Asheboro plant
manufactured a variety of socks including “Genuine wrap, English ribs, argyle, and cushion soles” on
167 circular knitting machines. The business ceased operating in 1972.%

Numerous small hosiery mills were listed in Asheboro Chamber of Commerce brochures and
Asheboro City Directories from 1930 through 1962, but most operated for only a short period and
employed fewer than twelve workers. Such businesses include Allred Hosiery Mills, Arch Hosiery
Mills, Auman Hosiery Mills, Balfour Hosiery Company, Brown and York Hosiery Mill, Burke
Hosiery Mill, Charmeuse Hosiery Industries, Cline Hosiery Mill, Cornelison and Hallman Hosiery
Company, Craven Hosiery Mill, Fair Grounds Hosiery Mills, Richard Grey Hosiery Company, Golda
Hosiery Mill, Harvelle Hosiery Mills, Isley Hosiery Company, Kennedy Hosiery Mills, Longwear
Hosiery Mills, Luck Hosiery Mills, Martha Mills, Moffit Hosiery Mills, E. H. Steere and Company,
Swing-Taylor Hosiery, Terry Hosiery Mill, and VVuncannon Hosiery Mills.**

Asheboro’s hosiery mills were the municipality’s largest industries, but other textile mills and
establishments producing goods ranging from mattresses to millwork were also successful. The
Chamber of Commerce reported that the city’s fifty-one industrial plants drew from an abundant local
labor force in 1937. C. C. Cranford’s 1938 letter detailing Asheboro’s economy lists thirty-eight
industries operating at that time, including three full-fashioned hosiery mills, two seamless hosiery
mills, two mills that manufactured men’s half-hose, a broom factory, a printed string plant, a silk
throwing plant, a handkerchief factory, a tape manufacturing plant, a flour and feed mill, a paper box
factory, a creamery, two ice plants, two lumber and building supply companies, four furniture
factories, and fourteen other sundry concerns.®

%2 Sanborn Map Company, Asheboro, North Carolina, April 1931 and April 1950, Sheet 7; News and Observer,
The North Carolina Yearbook, 1931 and 1939; North Carolina Division of Commerce and Industry et. al., Industrial
Directory and Reference Book of the State of North Carolina, 506; Randolph County Historical Society, Randolph County,
1779-1979, 170.

* Ibid.; Mills, Randolph County: A Brief History, 97; “Tip-Top Hosiery Mills, Inc.,” The Employment Security
Commission Quarterly, Winter-Spring 1953, p. 30.

# Asheboro Chamber of Commerce, Asheboro, North Carolina: The Center of North Carolina (High Point:
Barber-Hall Print Company, circa 1939); Asheboro Chamber of Commerce, Asheboro, North Carolina: The Center of
North Carolina (High Point: Hall Print Company, circa 1941); Asheboro Chamber of Commerce, Asheboro, North
Carolina: The Center of North Carolina (circa 1938 brochure in Randolph County vertical file, North Carolina Collection
Vault, Box 1, Folder 1); Charles W. Miller, Miller’s Asheboro, N. C. City Directories (Asheville: Southern Directory
Company, 1939-1940, 1949-1950, 1960).

% Asheboro Chamber of Commerce, Asheboro, North Carolina: The Center of North Carolina, circa 1937
brochure in the Asheboro Chamber of Commerce vertical file, Randolph Room, Asheboro Public Library; C. C. Cranford,
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Stedman Manufacturing Company, established by Sulon B. Stedman in 1930 to make handkerchiefs,
expanded their Hoover Street factory with the construction of a large, two-story, streamlined, brick
building in the late 1930s. The United States Navy commissioned the company to produce men’s t-
shirts during World War 11, and they continued fabricating men’s apparel at a new plant after the war
ended. The Stedman complex at 604 Hoover Street was utilized by Sunspun Chenilles by 1941 and
Blue Gem Manufacturing Company, who fabricated work garments, by 1951.%

Industrial Architecture Context

Many of North Carolina’s nineteenth-century textile producers adapted existing frame buildings to
serve as their first mills. Such structures, which usually had rough-sawn wood floors and wood-
shingle roofs, often resembled large residential or agricultural buildings as they were typically located
in rural settings along the rivers and streams that generated their power. Edwin Michael Holt and
William A. Carrigan’s frame 1837 mill on Alamance Creek was one of the piedmont’s earliest sizable
textile mills.*’

In the first purpose-built industrial buildings erected in the United States, engineers and architects
strove to accommodate machinery in a manner that allowed for efficient access to power sources as
well as maximum utilization of natural light and ventilation. By the mid-nineteenth century, “slow-
burn” masonry construction, with load-bearing brick walls, exposed heavy-timber framing, thick plank
floors, gabled roofs, large operable multi-pane sash and transoms, segmental-arched window and door
lintels, and metal fire doors predominated.*

During the late nineteenth century, steam and electric power availability encouraged factory movement
to urban areas in close proximity to railroad lines and sizable potential employee pools. Mill and
factory design evolved from a process whereby owners worked with builders who erected edifices
based on mutually understood norms to a field dominated by professionally-trained engineers who
rendered plans for industrial buildings and supervised their execution. Although the construction of
durable, economical structures was the primary objective, variegated, patterned, and corbelled brick
and cast-stone accents were employed as an inexpensive means to increase aesthetic interest.
Expressed pilasters, stringcourses, water tables, window sills, arched door and window lintels, and
exterior stair towers enhanced visual appeal while serving important structural functions.*

Standards imposed by machinery manufacturers and insurance companies also guided industrial
architecture’s evolution during the late nineteenth century. In order to minimize fire risk, stairwells,
which could serve as conduits for fire movement between floors, were located in projecting stair

“Asheboro Today,” December 19, 1938, letter written to be sealed in the Asheboro Municipal Building’s corner stone, in
the Asheboro Hosiery Mills vertical file, Randolph Room, Asheboro Public Library.

% Asheboro Chamber of Commerce, Asheboro, North Carolina: The Center of North Carolina (High Point:
Barber-Hall Print Company, circa 1939); Mills, Randolph County: A Brief History, 103, 106; Sanborn Map Company,
Asheboro, North Carolina, April 1931 and April 1950, Sheet 9.

%7 Betsy Hunter Bradley, The Works: The Industrial Architecture of the United States (Oxford: Oxford University
Press, 1999), 16-17; Brent D. Glass, The Textile Industry in North Carolina: A History (Raleigh: North Carolina
Department of Cultural Resources, Division of Archives and History, 1992), 16-17; Laura A. W. Phillips, “Alamance Mill
Village Historic District,” National Register of Historic Places Nomination, 2007.

% Sara E. Wermiel, “Heavy Timber Framing in Late-Nineteenth-Century Commercial and Industrial Buildings,”
APT Bulletin: Journal of Preservation Technology, Volume 35, No. 1, 2004, 56; Bradley, The Works, 234.

% Bradley, The Works, 15-21, 230-234.
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towers. Brick interior walls and galvanized-sheet-metal-clad, solid-core-wood doors, known as
kalamein doors, separated the mill sections where fires might start or spread rapidly. These heavy
doors would automatically close in the case of a fire, as the heat would melt a soft metal link in the
door’s counterweight assembly and the door would slide shut on the sloped metal track. As an
additional precaution, water reservoirs and elevated water tanks supplied automatic sprinkler systems
in many industrial complexes.*°

During the twentieth century’s first decades, architects and engineers continued to plan manufacturing
complexes that were similar in appearance to earlier industrial buildings. However, new materials,
technology, and forms manifested efficiency, modernity, and economic progress. Mill and factory
designers specified steel and reinforced-concrete columns, posts, and beams in conjunction with brick,
concrete, terra cotta block, or tile curtain walls that provided structural bracing but did not carry any
weight. Bands of steel-frame multi-pane windows and roof monitors provided workers with abundant
light and ventilation. Steel truss roof systems spanned open interiors that accommodated sizable
equipment and allowed for flexibility as manufacturing needs changed.*

Although structural systems for some late-nineteenth-century industrial buildings included cast-iron or
wrought-iron columns or steel posts and beams, high cost greatly limited the materials’ use until the
early twentieth century. The ability to withstand the weight and vibrations of heavy machinery without
failing contributed to the widespread use of structural-steel construction by the 1910s, as did the ease
of fabricating framing systems from standard factory-generated parts. Typical elements include I-, T-,
H-, and box-shaped beams and posts; round columns; reinforcing plates; and angles, which serve as
braces, tension members, struts, or lintels. Steel components could be riveted together, creating strong
connections, and tended to be smaller and lighter than heavy-timber or iron framing members. This
allowed for wider and taller buildings with more square footage for equipment. The popularity of flat
roofs and sizable roof monitors also resulted in structural-steel framing prevalence. In order to reduce
oxidation and achieve fire resistance, steel members were coated with intumescent paint; sprayed with
a thin mixture of cement, sand, and water called gunite; or encased in concrete.*

Concrete construction technology also improved during the early twentieth century. Engineer Claude
A. P. Turner patented a structural system comprised of concrete mushroom columns and formed-
concrete floors in 1908 after utilizing it in his plans for Minneapolis’s 1906 Johnson-Bovey Building.
He then designed the first American bridge supported by the columns, which carried Lafayette Avenue
over the Soo Line in St. Paul, Minnesota. The technology was often used in mill construction,
appearing in North Carolina factories such as those erected in Winston-Salem by R. J. Reynolds
Tobacco Company beginning in 1915 and the six-story knitting mill that P. H. Hanes Knitting
Company built in 1921.%

0 Glass, Textile Industry, 38.

! Bradley, The Works, 144-147.

“2 Ibid.

*%J. E. Sirrine and Company, architects and engineers of many R. J. Reynolds Tobacco Company structures,
specified mushroom columns for buildings erected during that period. A. S. Macolmson, “The Mushroom System of
Reinforced Concrete Building Construction,” Engineering-Contracting, September 4, 1907, p. 137; Nannie M. Tilley, The
R. J. Reynolds Tobacco Company (Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 1985), 307; Manufacturers’ Record,
August 26, 1915 and October 14, 1915; Anita Scism and Spencer Gung, “R. J. R. Downtown Buildings, 1875-1950: A
Historical Perspective,” unpublished report prepared for R. J. Reynolds Tobacco Company, March 12, 2002.
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Albert Kahn was one of only a few American architects who specialized in industrial building design
during the early twentieth century. In many of his commissions, traditional load-bearing walls were
replaced with curtain walls containing large steel-frame windows and monitor roofs provided
illumination and ventilation. His office supplied factory plans to hundreds of American industrialists
including automobile manufacturers Packard, Chrysler, Ford, and General Motors, as well as for
international clients. At the Packard Motor Car Company Forge Shop (1910) in Detroit, Kahn used a
steel structural frame to support a traveling crane mounted to the roof trusses and glass curtain walls to
allow for maximum light and air circulation. He minimized the exterior walls’ bay articulation by
specifying narrow steel columns of about the same size as steel window sashes. Kahn’s firm continued
to employ bands of steel windows in conjunction with masonry or concrete screens to conceal steel
structural framing in edifices such as the Industrial Works (ca. 1915) in Bay City, Michigan. The
firm’s design for the Dodge Half-Ton Truck Plant in Detroit, completed in 1937, was a much more
sophisticated building with tall glazed curtain walls reminiscent of Walter Gropius’s Bauhaus School
(1926) in Dessau, Germany.** Gropius’s streamlined design for the 1911 Fagus Factory in Germany,
which features steel-frame multi-pane curtain walls, was also internationally influential.*®

Modernist architectural principles such as simplicity, efficiency, affordability, and intrinsic material
expression were inherently applicable to industrial buildings. Industrial architecture continued to
reflect these tenets as the twentieth century progressed. Building materials and labor were in short
supply during World War Il, but when construction resumed after the war’s end, steel and reinforced-
concrete industrial edifices with masonry (brick, tile, or concrete) curtain walls predominated. Fire-
resistant corrugated metal and asbestos panels were often used as warehouse sheathing. Windows
decreased in size and number in the 1960s as central air conditioning became prevalent.

Asheboro’s Industrial Architecture

Industrial architecture consistently utilizes new building materials, technology, and forms in an attempt
to create edifices that epitomize efficiency, modernity, and economic progress. Asheboro’s simply-
executed, utilitarian, early-twentieth-century, heavy-timber frame and brick mills and factories with
flat or low-pitched gable roofs and large windows reflect late-nineteenth-century design principles as
well as the transition from heavy-timber to structural-steel and reinforced-concrete framing. By the
1940s, Asheboro’s industrialists embraced popular architectural styles, particularly Art Moderne, to
convey a sense of prosperity and modernity. Architects were inspired by the early-twentieth-century
Italian Futurist movement, which completely rejected historical precedents and celebrated the era’s
progress, utilized stucco, structural glass, glass block, porcelain-enameled steel, and anodized
aluminum to embody a machine aesthetic. The resulting architectural style, known as Art Moderne,
reflects the speed, energy, and power of automobiles, trains, steamships, and factories in buildings with
horizontal massing, asymmetrical facades, curved corners, banding, and flat roofs.*® Asheboro

“«Art: Industrial Architect,” Time, August 8, 1938; Bradley, The Works: The Industrial Architecture of the
United States, 248, 248-258.

** Gropius, the highly influential founder of the German design school known as the Bauhaus, which operated
from 1919 until 1933, taught at Harvard’s Graduate School of Design beginning in 1937. Bradley, The Works, 250; Henry-
Russell Hitchcock Jr. and Philip Johnson, The International Style: Architecture since 1922 (New York, W. W. Norton &
Company, 1932, 20; Henry-Russell Hitchcock Jr., In the Nature of Materials: The Buildings of Frank Lloyd Wright, 1887-
1941 (New York: Da Capo Press, Inc., 1942), 52, 92-93, Figures 99 and 328-338; Historic New England, “Gropius House,”
http://www.historicnewengland.org/visit/homes/gropius.htm (accessed in August 2015).

“® Gelernter, A History of American Architecture, 227-228; Peter Gossel and Gabriele Leuthauser. Architecture in
the Twentieth Century (Koln, Slovenia: Taschen, 2001), 319.
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Hosiery Mill No. 2’s 1945 expansion, McCrary Hosiery Mill No. 3, erected in 1948 per the plans of
Charlotte architects Biberstein and Bowles, and the 1949 Acme-McCrary-Sapona Recreation Center,
designed by Henderson, North Carolina, architect Eric G. Flannagan, exemplified this trend with
streamlined features such as rounded corners and glass-block windows.*’

Although Asheboro retains a number of industrial buildings erected during the first half of the
twentieth century, many have been extensively modified or demolished. The Acme-McCrary Hosiery
Mills and Asheboro Hosiery Mills - Cranford Furniture Company complexes encompass the city’s
earliest and most intact industrial edifices, as well as some of the most stylish. The 1909 Acme
Hosiery Mill and its 1915-1929 additions, the 1917 Asheboro Hosiery Mill No. 1, the 1924 Asheboro
Hosiery Mill No. 2, the 1925 Cranford Furniture Company factory, and the mid-1920s Parks Hosiery
Mill have experienced remarkably little alteration over decades of continuous use. The buildings
manifest the fire-resistant construction that continued to prevail through the twentieth-century’s first
decades.

Asheboro’s largest industrial complex, owned and operated by the Acme-McCrary Corporation,
encompasses buildings erected from 1909 through 1962 on seven acres south of West Salisbury Street.
Acme Hosiery Mills’s first building, a two-story brick edifice, stands on the railroad’s east side at what
is now 159 North Street. The load-bearing masonry structure, which has a low-pitched gable roof with
exposed rafter ends and deep eaves, features arched window and door opening embellished with
Italianate-style corbelled hoods below the stepped parapet on its east facade. The company expanded
the complex numerous times, constructing more austere two- and three-story, brick, heavy-timber,
structural-steel, and concrete warehouse and factory additions that extend west toward the railroad and
south to commercial buildings on Sunset Avenue’s north side. Architect Richard C. Biberstein and his
successor firms prepared plans for the company’s Asheboro and Cedar Falls mills from 1927 through
1986.%® The window openings in the earliest buildings, which contain double-hung, wood-frame
sashes, have been covered with vinyl siding, but large steel-frame and glass-block windows illuminate
the later edifices.

An elevated, corrugated-metal-clad, pedestrian walkway extends above the railroad at the complex’s
north end, providing access to McCrary Hosiery Mill No. 2. The two-story, flat-roofed, 1937 building
is sheathed in running bond wire-cut variegated-brick walls accented with cast-stone pilasters with
canted caps and cast-stone window sills and lintels. The structure abuts a mid-1920s two-story brick
hosiery mill with large multi-pane steel-frame windows that stands to the south on North Church
Street’s east side. Another elevated, corrugated-metal-sided pedestrian walkway connects McCrary
Hosiery Mill No. 2 to the company’s third Asheboro mill, a two-story, redbrick, Art Moderne-style
plant erected to the west at 173 North Church Street in 1948.

*" Eric G. Flannagan’s other local commissions include the 1932 Randolph County Hospital and the 1949
Asheboro High School. Plans in the Acme-McCrary Collection and the Biberstein, Bowles, Meacham & Reed Records, J.
Murrey Atkins Library Special Collections, University of North Carolina at Charlotte; “Acme-McCrary Recreation
Building, exterior sketch and plans 1944-1948 in Flat Folders 52, 61, and 66 in the Eric G. Flannagan Papers, 1922-1989,
Collection MC 00087, North Carolina State University.

“8 Whatley, Architectural History of Randolph County, 195; “Acme Hosiery Mills,” “Central Falls Manufacturing
Company,” “D. B. McCrary Store Building,” “McCrary Hosiery Mills,” “Sapona Cotton Mills,” 1927-1986 drawings in the
possession of Acme-McCrary Corporation; Drawings and project files, 1926-1956, Biberstein, Bowles, Meacham & Reed
Records, J. Murrey Atkins Library Special Collections, University of North Carolina at Charlotte.
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McCrary Hosiery Mill No. 3’s asymmetrical four-bay fagcade features a slightly projecting entrance bay
at the center of a three-bay north section with curved outside edges. A two-story, fluted, cast-stone
band surrounds the double-leaf aluminum-frame door, multi-pane sidelights, and transom, as well as
the large, multi-pane, aluminum-frame window that surmounts the entrance above a flat-roofed metal
canopy. The Acme-McCrary-Sapona Recreation Center completed at 148 North Street the following
year is even more distinctive, with five-to-one common-bond wire-cut yellow-brick walls punctuated
by cast-stone window surrounds and spandrels and a cast-stone water table and cornice. Brick pilasters
with canted cast-stone caps frame most gymnasium window bays on the side elevations. The three-
part, seven-bay facade features a recessed central section flanked by two wings with corners that step
back to the outside edges. The projecting entrance bay has three double-leaf aluminum doors
surmounted by geometric-patterned transoms.

Asheboro Hosiery Mills also evolved to accommodate increased production. Like the earliest Acme
Hosiery Mills buildings, Asheboro Hosiery Mill No. 1 features five-to-one common-bond load-bearing
brick walls, a heavy-timber frame, a low-pitched gable roof, and segmental-arched window and door
openings. The original, large, double-hung, twelve-over-twelve, wood-sash windows that remain on
the second floor’s south elevation include a mechanism that allowed the upper sash to tilt open,
facilitating ventilation. A long, rectangular, wood-frame, monitor-roofed skylight provided abundant
illumination.

The company erected a two-story addition on the 1917 building’s south end as part of their 1924 plant
expansion and enlarged the mill again in the late 1930s with the construction of a two-story wing near
the main mill’s southeast corner, doubling the building’s size.* The 1924 and 1930s additions were
executed in five-to-one common bond with rectangular window opening and very low-pitched gable
roofs. Chamfered square wood posts and substantial wood beams support the floor and roof systems in
the 1924 section, while steel posts and beams were used to construct the late 1930s addition. As with
many industrial buildings during this period, the exterior brick walls are load-bearing. Large steel-
frame windows with eight-pane central sections that tilt open illuminate the entire building.

Asheboro Hosiery Mill No. 2, erected in 1924, is also a two-story, heavy-timber frame edifice with
load-bearing five-to-one common-bond brick walls. Cranford Industries constructed a three-story
brick building that abutted the 1924 mill’s north elevation at the same time and leased it to Old
Dominion Box Company, who operated a factory at the site for about twenty years.”® Both buildings
were extensively renovated as part of Asheboro Hosiery Mills’ 1945 update. The floor systems in the
three-story factory were removed and the interior was completely reconfigured, creating a two-story
building with structural-steel framing, high ceilings, and improved lighting. Asheboro Hosiery’s
narrow, two-story, brick, Art Moderne-style addition on Mill No. 2’s west elevation created a new
entrance, stair hall, and elevator tower. The streamlined facade, which features translucent glass-block
windows and a two-story, stepped, soldier-course band surrounding the central entrance bay,
foreshadowed the two Art Moderne-style buildings in the Acme-McCrary Hosiery Mills complex that
manifest more high-style design elements. All three buildings represent the influence of European
architectural trends on American industrial design.*

*® The two-story wing does not appear on the 1931 Sanborn map but is illustrated in a line drawing and
photographs that appear in Asheboro Chamber of Commerce brochures from the late 1930s and early 1940s.

%% Ibid.; News and Observer, The North Carolina Yearbook (Raleigh: News and Observer, 1931), 78.

51 «Asheboro Hosiery Mill Expansion Under Way Provides Plenty of Jobs,” Courier-Tribune, September 9, 1945,
p. 1; Womick, “A dream that just ran out of steam;” Sanborn Map Company, “Asheboro,” Sheet 3, April 1931 and 1950.

Acme-McCrary Hosiery Mills Local Historic Landmark Report, Asheboro, Randolph County 43
Fearnbach History Services, Inc. / October 2022



The Cranford Furniture Company factory that occupies the block’s south end is another intact example
of early to mid-twentieth-century industrial architecture. The two-story brick building’s original
section, constructed around 1925, is executed in five-to-one common bond with stepped-parapet north
and south elevations and a very low-pitched gable roof. The additions to this factory, like the others in
the complex, manifest the company’s use of structural-steel framing technology by the late 1930s. The
building retains large steel-frame windows with eight-pane central sections that tilt open.

Other Asheboro industrial buildings feature similar construction technology but have less integrity.
The former Keystone Hosiery Mills — McLaurin Hosiery Mills complex at 150 North Park Street
consists of a one-story, brick, heavy-timber frame mill erected at the northeast corner of Hoover and
Park Streets in 1930. Like the pre-1924 sections of the Acme-McCrary Hosiery Mills complex, the
mill features a very low-pitched gable roof with deep eaves, but most of its windows have been
enclosed with brick. The two-story, brick, heavy-timber frame, 1947 building to the north has a flat
roof a5r21d intact steel-frame windows. Brick pilasters with canted cast-stone caps flank the window
bays.

The Biberstein firm’s design for the former Stedman Manufacturing Company complex erected at 604
Hoover Street in 1930 is similarly utilitarian, consisting of austere one- and two-story heavy-timber
frame industrial buildings with load-bearing exterior brick walls pierced by large multi-pane steel-
frame windows like those in the post-1928 Acme-McCrary Hosiery Mills. Many first-floor window
openings have been infilled with brick or concrete block or covered with plywood or vinyl siding. The
one-story, flat-roofed, brick office addition lighted by double-hung, wood-sash windows that projects
from the two-story building’s facade was constructed in the 1930s.%

The Bossong Hosiery Mills plant has been greatly altered, but the complex, like others in Asheboro,
employs both heavy-timber and structural-steel industrial framing. The one-story, four-bay, sawtooth-
roofed edifice that stands next to the smokestack emblazoned with the company’s name was
encompassed by the construction of the one-story, flat-roofed 1935 factory at 840 West Salisbury
Street, which was subsequently enlarged several times. Although the facade (south elevation) retains a
Classical Revival-style entrance flanked by original sconces at its west end, all but one of the steel-
frame windows on the building’s south, east, and west elevations were enclosed and the brick walls
stuccoed after a 1950s expansion, significantly diminishing the building’s architectural integrity. The
original brick exterior walls, cast-stone foundation, steel-frame windows, and cast-stone window sills
are still intact on the rear (north) elevation, however. A one-story metal-sided warehouse and a
48,000-square-foot, one-story, brick-veneered, 1970 addition occupy the complex’s northwest end.>*

°2 Sanborn Map Company, “Asheboro,” Sheet 7, April 1931 and April 1950; Randolph County Historical Society,
Randolph County, 1779-1979, 170.

%% «Stedman Manufacturing Company,” drawings for 1930 plant and 1933 addition and project files (1930-1936),
Biberstein, Bowles, Meacham & Reed Records, J. Murrey Atkins Library Special Collections, University of North Carolina
at Charlotte.

% Asheboro Chamber of Commerce, Asheboro, North Carolina: The Center of North Carolina (circa 1938
brochure in Randolph County vertical file, North Carolina Collection Vault, Box 1, Folder 1); Asheboro Chamber of
Commerce, Asheboro, North Carolina: The Center of North Carolina (High Point: Barber-Hall Print Company, circa
1939), 5; Chip Womack, “Bossongs keep changing to keep up in tough business,” Courier-Tribune, October 28, 1999, pp.
1A and 16A.
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Other Asheboro industrial concerns had much smaller operations, and many buildings constructed
prior to the mid-twentieth century are no longer extant or have been significantly altered. For the most
part, these complexes contained completely utilitarian factory and warehouse buildings erected to
facilitate manufacturing and storage needs without any concern for aesthetic appearance.

The two-story heavy-timber-frame brick factory at 130 S. Church Street was erected by Asheboro
Broom Company in the late 1920s, utilized and expanded by Standard Tytape Company from 1933
until 1953, and leased by Stedman Manufacturing Company in 1957. The early-twenty-first-century-
renovation involved aluminum-frame storefront, window, and door installation. The window openings
on the north elevation have been filled with brick and all but two sills have been removed. Entrances
have been added on the north, south, and west elevations.

The former Banner Hosiery Mills plant consists of a small one-story building erected at 406 Hoover
Street in 1940 that was completely surrounded by expansions in 1973 and 1981. Nantucket Hosiery
Mills Corporation conveyed the property to Swing Enterprises in 1984. The structure served as Acme-
McCrary Mill No. 4 from February 2010 until May 2011.% The building’s windowless design reflects
its later construction date. A few loading docks pierce the north elevation, but the east elevation is
blind. The entrance near the south elevation’s southwest corner is characterized by a Roman brick-
veneered wall surmounted by canted plate-glass windows.

Klopman Mills, organized in 1947, improved the Cetwick Silk Mills plant, established in 1928, at 162
North Cherry Street to function as their Asheboro plant. The company became a division of
Burlington Industries in 1954. According to Randolph County property card data, the complex
includes a 1927 building, which is likely the west end’s central section. The plant had been expanded
by 1950, and was significantly altered by the construction of large, windowless, one- and two-story
additions in 1966. The northwest corner entrance was also updated at that time by the installation of
aggregate wall-sheathing panels and a flat-roofed entrance porch supported by decorative concrete
block posts.*®

Additional Context: Richard C. Biberstein, architect

Fredericksburg, Texas, native Richard C. Biberstein, born in 1859, attained a mechanical engineering
degree from the Worcester (Massachusetts) Polytechnic Institute in 1882. He was employed at U. S.
Electric Lighting Company in Newark, New Jersey, and Atlas Engine Works in Indianapolis before
moving to Charlotte in 1887 as a draftsman for industrialist John Wilkes’s Mecklenburg Iron Works.
H. S. Chadwick offered him a similar position at Charlotte Machine Company, which manufactured
mill equipment, in 1897. Biberstein accepted the offer and remained on staff until 1902, when he
became prolific mill designer Stuart Cramer’s employee, thus garnering valuable experience that
prepared him to launch an independent firm specializing in mill design three years later.>

% Schwarz Properties, LLC, purchased 406 Hoover Street from Swing Enterprises in 2007. Randolph County
Deed Book 1157, p. 857; Deed Book 2040, p. 891; Bruce Patram, Chief Financial Officer, Acme-McCrary Corporation,
email correspondence with Heather Fearnbach, December 11, 2013

%% |bid.; “History of Klopman Mills,” October 23, 1963, from the Klopman Mills vertical file in the Randolph
Room of the Asheboro Public Library; Randolph County Historical Society, Randolph County, 1779-1979, 170.

% Thomas W. Hanchett, William H. Huffman, and Catherine W. Bishir, “Richard C. Biberstein,” North Carolina
Architects and Builders: A Biographical Dictionary, 2009 (accessed in June 2020); “Biberstein, Bowles, Meacham & Reed:
Biographical/Historical Note,” Biberstein, Bowles, Meacham & Reed Records, J. Murrey Atkins Library Special
Collections, University of North Carolina at Charlotte.
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Richard C. Biberstein’s son Herman Von Biberstein began working with his father after attaining a
civil engineering degree North Carolina State University in 1914. Architect William Andrew Bowles
became a partner in 1930. Following the senior Biberstein’s 1931 death, the practice bore his name
until around 1940, when H. V. Biberstein’s name appears on plan sheets. Biberstein and Bowles
operated as principals until Louis Hunter Meacham achieved partnership in 1948. Biberstein, Bowles,
and Meacham subsequently elevated Charles Harmon Reed to full partnership between 1956 and 1959.
Mechanical engineer William Ernest Stowe Jr. became a principal by 1962.®

The firm had a significant impact on Southern industrial development, designing hundreds of
structures throughout the region. Asheboro industrialists began engaging the Bibersteins to design
mills in the 1920s and continued to solicit the firm’s services through the 1980s. The practice’s
Asheboro commissions include buildings for Acme Hosiery Mills, Asheboro Furniture Company,
Asheboro Hosiery Mills, McCrary Hosiery Mills, McLaurin Hosiery Mills, Sapona Cotton Mills, and
Stedman Manufacturing Company.*®

%8 “Bjberstein, Bowles, & Meacham: Biographical Note,” Guide to the Biberstein, Bowles, & Meacham Records,
1944-1954, MC 00222, North Carolina State University, Raleigh. Plans in the Acme-McCrary Corporation’s collection in
Asheboro created from March 1927 through the 1930s are stamped “R. C. Biberstein, mill engineer and architect.” A set of
drawings from May 29, 1940, has “H. V. Biberstein, mill engineer and architect” in the title block.

% Richard C. Biberstein, et. al. “Acme Hosiery Mills,” “Asheboro Grocery Store,” “Central Falls Manufacturing
Company,” “D. B. McCrary Store Building,” “McCrary Hosiery Mills,” “Sapona Cotton Mills,” 1927-1986 drawings in the
possession of Acme-McCrary Corporation, Asheboro, N. C.; “Biberstein, Bowles, Meacham & Reed: Scope and Contents,”
Biberstein, Bowles, Meacham & Reed Records, J. Murrey Atkins Library Special Collections, University of North Carolina
at Charlotte; George S. Koyl, ed., American Architects Directory, Second Edition (New York: R. R. Bowker Company,
1962), 54; George S. Koyl, ed., American Architects Directory, Third Edition (New York: R. R. Bowker Company, 1970),
70.
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Designation Parameters

The property owners are seeking local historic landmark designation for three pivotal buildings within the
Acme-McCrary Hosiery Mill complex: Acme Hosiery Mills and McCrary Hosiery Mills, Parks Hosiery
Mill - McCrary Hosiery Mill No. 2, and the recreation center. Character-defining features are enumerated
below. The Randolph County Historic Landmark Commission’s jurisdiction over interior spaces is
limited to the features delineated in the following list.

Acme Hosiery Mills and McCrary Hosiery Mills

Exterior
1909 mill and 1910s, 1915, 1917, and 1924 additions

e |talianate-style corbelled door and window hoods on six-bay-wide east facade (1909)

e stepped east parapet (1909)

e low-pitched-gable roofs

e exposed shaped rafter ends and deep eaves

e five-to-one common-bond red-brick walls

e double-header-course segmental-arched window and door lintels

e slightly projecting header-course window sills

e double-hung, wood-frame, multi-pane windows, in some cases surmounted by transoms

e long gabled roof monitor with four-foot-tall side walls and operable wood sash window constructed in
1917 to provide supplementary light for the second stories of the 1909 mill and 1915 and 1917
additions

e 1956 streamlined Modernist cast-stone surround at the 1924 addition’s North Street entrance

1928 and two 1929 additions

e low-pitched-gable roof (1928)

e flat roofs (1929)

e five-to-one common-bond red-brick walls (1928 and first 1929 additions)

e running bond wire-cut variegated-brick walls (second 1929 addition)

e brick pilasters flanking window bays

e tall, steel-frame, multi-pane, rectangular sash windows with cast-stone sills
e soldier-course window lintels (second 1929 addition)

e freight elevator shaft projecting from second 1929 addition’s west elevation
e loading dock north of elevator shaft

1953 addition (no exterior visibility as 1962 addition wraps around its west and south elevations)

e flat roof
o five-to-one common-bond red-brick walls

1962 office and warehouse with 1972 third floor

e flat roof

e running-bond red-brick-veneered concrete-block walls

e vertical columns of six-panel steel-frame windows with recessed spandrels

e slightly projecting header-course sills on all but ground-level openings, which have cast-stone sills
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Interior

e cxposed and painted heavy-timber-frame posts and beams; steel 1-beams, posts, and trusses;
round steel posts

e painted brick and concrete walls

e wide-board roof decking boards

e narrow-board and concrete floors

e single- and double-leaf wood and steel doors

e metal Kalamein doors

e beadboard-sheathed walls with expansive multi-pane fixed-sash interior windows enclose the first-
floor dye house office

e brick-walled vault with a steel-reinforced barrel-arched brick ceiling and door system manufactured by
Cary Safe Company of Buffalo, New York, in 1924 addition

Acme-McCrary Hosiery Mills Smokestack

e circa 1940 seventy-foot-tall brick smokestack executed in all-header bond and emblazoned with
“Acme-McCrary” in white letters on its east side

Parks Hosiery Mill - McCrary Hosiery Mill No. 2

Mid-1920s mill and circa 1940 addition
Exterior

e flat roof

e five-to-one common bond walls

e stepped parapet tops the-two-story mid-1920s mill’s six-bay west elevation; terra-cotta coping caps the
central portion

e cast-stone coping elsewhere

e 1950s elevator shaft with a tower that extends above the parapet at the mill’s southwest corner

e large, multi-pane, steel-frame windows thirty-six-pane with eight-pane central hoppers

e circa 1940 addition that extends from the mid-1920s building’s north elevation with six-to-one common
bond red-brick walls punctuated by brick pilasters with canted cast-stone caps

e late 1950s addition with corrugated-metal second-story sheathing

Interior

e painted brick walls

e substantial wood and steel columns, posts, and beams
e wood roof decking boards

e hardwood and concrete floors

e metal kalamein doors

e single-and-double-leaf glazed and paneled wood doors

1937 Addition
Exterior
o flat roof

e running bond wire-cut variegated-brick walls punctuated by cast-stone pilasters with canted caps
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e continuous cast-stone sills and lintels

o flat-roofed metal canopy embellished with Art Deco-style geometric motifs above north entrance

e Art Deco-style sconces flanking the canopy

e double-leaf steel door with flat-panel base and four-pane upper section at the north elevation’s center
e brick mid-1950s elevator shaft that abuts the hyphen’s north wall and the 1937 building’s east wall.
e cast loading dock

Interior

e painted brick walls

e substantial concrete and steel columns, posts, and beams
e wood roof decking boards

e hardwood and concrete floors

e metal kalamein doors

e single-and-double-leaf glazed and paneled wood doors

Acme-McCrary-Sapona Recreation Center

Exterior

e flat roof

e five-to-one common-bond wire-cut yellow-brick walls

e cast-stone window surround and spandrels

e cast-stone water table and cornice

e brick pilasters with canted cast-stone caps framing most gymnasium window bays on side elevations

e one-story entrance bay with three double-leaf aluminum doors surmounted by geometric-patterned
transoms

e tall glass-block windows flanking the west entrance and gymnasium bays

e one-story brick swimming pool wing with a corrugated metal roof illuminated by large, aluminum-
frame, tinted-insulated-glass windows and skylights

Interior

e tri-colored basketweave-pattern linoleum on lobby floor

e display cases flanking the central wire-cut yellow-brick fireplace and chimney in lobby and
second-floor meeting room

e double-leaf doors with streamlined modern handles lead into the gymnasium/auditorium,

e gymnasium/auditorium characterized by exposed bow-arch steel-truss roof system, large rectangular
cream tile wainscoting, hardwood floors, collapsible wood bleachers, and a stage at the east end

e plaster walls in most first- and second-floor rooms

e large rectangular yellow-glazed tiles sheathe most basement walls

e swimming pool with exposed bow-arch steel-trusses, large rectangular cream tile wainscoting, and a
mosaic tile floor

Overhead Walkways

o three steel-frame late 1950s overhead walkways spanning North Church Street, the railroad, and
North Street
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Tax Value

The Acme-McCrary-Sapona Recreation Center at 148 North Street (Randolph County tax parcel 7751-83-
1174) has a $268,290 land value and $601,100 building value as of October 2022.

Acme Hosiery Mills and McCrary Hosiery Mills at 159 North Street (Randolph County tax parcel 7751-
73-9323) has a $344,060 land value and $1,087,270 building value as of October 2022.

Parks Hosiery Mill - McCrary Hosiery Mill No. 2 at 170 North Church (Randolph County tax parcel
7751-73-6404) has a $119,000 land value and $361,000 building value as of October 2022

Local Historic Landmark Boundary Description and Justification

The local historic landmark encompasses three pivotal resources within the complex listed in the National
Register of Historic Places individually in 2014 and within the Downtown Asheboro Historic District in
2021: Acme Hosiery Mills and McCrary Hosiery Mills, Parks Hosiery Mill - McCrary Hosiery Mill No.
2, and the recreation center. The commercial buildings at 124 North Street and on Trade Street and
McCrary Hosiery Mill No. 3 at 347 West Salisbury Street are not included due to alterations. The almost
five acre local historic landmark boundary encompasses tax parcels 7751-83-1174, 7751-73-9323, 7751-
73-6404; areas where building footprints encroach into the railroad right-of-way; and a portion of the
railroad corridor between the plants. This property historically associated with the complex provides an
appropriate setting.
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Acme and McCrary Hosiery Mills
Documentary images

Northeast obligue Drummond’s Pictorial Atlas of North Carolina, 1924, page 29
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Asheboro Chamber of Commerce brochures from around 1928 through 1937 featured this line drawing, entitled
“Knitting and Finishing Plant of the Acme Hosiery Mills, Inc.”

“Acme Hosiery Mills, Inc.,” rendering included in the 1938 Asheboro Chamber of Commerce brochure illustrates additions completed by that time.
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Composite rendering of Sapona Cotton Mills (upper left) in Cedar Falls and Acme Hosiery Mills and McCrary Hosiery Mills plants
in Asheboro, 1941 Asheboro Chamber of Commerce brochure (above) and after 1949 (below), Randolph County Public Library, Randolph Room
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http://www.randolphlibrary.org/randolphroom.htm

McCrary Hosiery Mill No. 2, northwest oblique, undated postcard (above) and undated photograph by John-David Studio that appeared in
the 1957 Asheboro Chamber of Commerce brochure (below) Randolph County Public Library, Randolph Room
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B. PROVIDE TEMPORARY SHORING AND BRACING OF EXISTING STRUCTURE DURING
DEMOLITION ACTIVITIES.
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DEMOLITION NOTES:

REMOVE EXISTING DOOR AND FRAME COMPLETELY.

REMOVE EXISTING WALL PARTITIONS AS INDICATED.

REMOVE PORTION OF EXISTING WALL AS REQUIRED FOR NEW DOOR OPENING.
COORDINATE WITH NEW WORK PLAN.

REMOVE PORTION OF EXISTING WALL AS REQUIRED FOR PASS—THRU OPENING.
COORDINATE WITH NEW WORK PLAN.

REMOVE EXISTING STAIRS COMPLETELY.

REMOVE EXISTING RAMP; PATCH AND REPAIR FLOOR AS REQUIRED.

REMOVE EXISTING WINDOW AND BRICK INFILL BACK TO ORIGINAL EXISTING WINDOW
OPENING.

REMOVE EXISTING RAISED FLOOR AREA AS INDICATED.

REMOVE EXISTING BRICK INFILL BACK TO ORIGINAL WINDOW OPENING.

REMOVE EXISTING ELEVATOR SYSTEM COMPLETELY.

CAREFULLY REMOVE WALLS AT FIRST FLOOR ONLY, SECOND FLOOR TO REMAIN,
SHORE UP AS REQUIRED.

REMOVE EXISTING DOOR AND BRICK INFILL BACK TO ORIGINAL EXISTING WINDOW
OPENING.

REMOVE VENT IN EXISTING OPENING.

REMOVE EXISTING CONC. STEP COMPLETELY.

REMOVE EXISTING COUNTER COMPLETELY.

REMOVE PLUMBING FIXTURES AND ACCESSORIES COMPLETELY.

REMOVE EXISTING CONC. LEDGE COMPLETELY.

REMOVE PORTION OF FLOOR FOR NEW ELEVATOR, COORDINATE WITH NEW WORK.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, INC. SCE PROJECT NUMBER 19-021
DATED MAY 1, 2019,SOME ASSBESTOS-CONTAINING
MATERIALS, SOME LEAD-BASED PAINT, AND TWO ABOVE
GROUND FUEL TANKS WERE IDENTIFIED. ALL WILL BE
ABATED OR ENCAPSULATED AS REQUIRED.
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GENERAL NOTES:

A.
B.

ALL CONSTRUCTION IS EXISTING TO REMAIN UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

PROVIDE TEMPORARY SHORING AND BRACING OF EXISTING STRUCTURE DURING
DEMOLITION ACTIVITIES.

PRELIMINARY

FOR REVIEW ONLY
NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

DEMOLITION NOTES:

PPROOOPOLLROROOOOY

REMOVE EXISTING DOOR AND FRAME COMPLETELY.

REMOVE EXISTING WALL PARTITIONS AS INDICATED.

REMOVE PORTION OF EXISTING WALL AS REQUIRED FOR NEW DOOR OPENING.
COORDINATE WITH NEW WORK PLAN.

REMOVE PORTION OF EXISTING WALL AS REQUIRED FOR PASS—THRU OPENING.
COORDINATE WITH NEW WORK PLAN.

REMOVE EXISTING STAIRS COMPLETELY.

REMOVE EXISTING RAMP; PATCH AND REPAIR FLOOR AS REQUIRED.

REMOVE EXISTING WINDOW AND BRICK INFILL BACK TO ORIGINAL EXISTING WINDOW
OPENING.

REMOVE EXISTING RAISED FLOOR AREA AS INDICATED.

REMOVE EXISTING BRICK INFILL BACK TO ORIGINAL WINDOW OPENING.

REMOVE EXISTING ELEVATOR SYSTEM COMPLETELY.

CAREFULLY REMOVE WALLS AT FIRST FLOOR ONLY, SECOND FLOOR TO REMAIN,
SHORE UP AS REQUIRED.

REMOVE EXISTING DOOR AND BRICK INFILL BACK TO ORIGINAL EXISTING WINDOW
OPENING.

REMOVE VENT IN EXISTING OPENING.

REMOVE EXISTING CONC. STEP COMPLETELY.

REMOVE EXISTING COUNTER COMPLETELY.

REMOVE PLUMBING FIXTURES AND ACCESSORIES COMPLETELY.

REMOVE EXISTING CONC. LEDGE COMPLETELY.

REMOVE PORTION OF FLOOR FOR NEW ELEVATOR, COORDINATE WITH NEW WORK.

NOTE:

BASED ON A PHASE | ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ASSESSMENT,
AN ASBESTOS-CONTAINING MATERIALS ASSESSMENT,
AND LEAD-BASED PAINT SURVEY BY SWIFT CREEK
ENVIRONMENTAL, INC. SCE PROJECT NUMBER 19-021
DATED MAY 1, 2019,SOME ASSBESTOS-CONTAINING
MATERIALS, SOME LEAD-BASED PAINT, AND TWO ABOVE
GROUND FUEL TANKS WERE IDENTIFIED. ALL WILL BE
ABATED OR ENCAPSULATED AS REQUIRED.
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